
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
  

 
Please contact: Matthew Stembrowicz 
Please email: matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
Please direct dial on: 01263 516047 
 
Tuesday, 3 December 2019 
 
A meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee of North Norfolk District Council will be held in the 
Council Chamber - Council Offices, Holt Road, Cromer, NR27 9EN on Wednesday, 11 December 
2019 at 9.30 am. 
 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to notify 
the committee clerk 24 hours in advance of the meeting and arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of 
the meeting. This is to allow time for the Committee Chair to rearrange the order of items on the agenda 
for the convenience of members of the public. Further information on the procedure for public speaking 
can be obtained from Democratic Services, Tel: 01263 516047, Email: matthew.stembrowicz@north-
norfolk.gov.uk. 
 
Anyone attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report 
on the meeting.  Anyone wishing to do so must inform the Chairman.  If you are a member of the public 
and you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. 

 

Please note that Committee members will be given priority to speak during the debate of agenda items 

 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Mr T Adams, Mr H Blathwayt, Mr N Dixon, Mrs W Fredericks, Mr P Heinrich, Mr N Housden, 
Mr G Mancini-Boyle, Mr N Pearce, Miss L Shires, Mrs E Spagnola, Mr J Toye and Mr A Varley 
 
All other Members of the Council for information. 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Corporate Directors:  Nick Baker and Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

2.   SUBSTITUTES 
 

 
 

3.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS & STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 To receive questions / statements from the public, if any. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

1 - 12 
 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 13th November 2019. 
 

 

5.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 To determine any other items of business which the Chairman decides 
should be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 
100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 
 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 

7.   PETITIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
 

 To consider any petitions received from members of the public. 
 

 

8.   CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE 
COMMITTEE BY A MEMBER 
 

 
 

 To consider any requests made by non-executive Members of the 
Council, and notified to the Monitoring Officer with seven clear working 
days’ notice, to include an item on the agenda of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

9.   RESPONSES OF THE COUNCIL OR THE CABINET TO THE 
COMMITTEE'S REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
 

 To consider any responses of the Council or the Cabinet to the 
Committee’s reports or recommendations: 
 

 



 
10.   MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY – 2020/21 TO 2023/24 

 
13 - 60 

 
 Summary:  

 
 
 
 
 
Options considered:  

This report presents an updated Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period 
2020/21 to 2023/24. The strategy has been 
updated to support the Corporate Plan for the 
period 2019 to 2022.  
 
The MTFS has been refreshed in the year and 
provides an updated financial projection in 
support of the 2020/21 budget process.  

 
Conclusions:  

 
The financial position for 2020/21 is currently 
showing a small surplus with deficits in future 
years. The MTFS identifies the key themes 
and priorities for the Council in seeking to 
reduce the forecast budget gap.  

 
Recommendations:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reasons for  
Recommendations:  

 
It is recommended that:  
 
1. Members consider and note:  

a) The current high level financial 
forecast for the   period 2020/21 to 
2023/24;  

b) The current capital funding forecasts;  
 

2. Members consider and recommend to 
Full Council:  
a) The revised reserves statement as 

included at Appendix 2 to the 
financial strategy.  

 
To refresh the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy in line with the Corporate Plan and to 
inform the detailed budget work for 2020/21.  
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt 
information and which are not published elsewhere) 
2019/20 Budget report and in year budget monitoring reports. 
 
Cabinet Member(s) 
Cllr Eric Seward 

Ward(s) affected 
All 
 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: Duncan Ellis, Head of 
Finance and 
Assets, 01263 516330, duncan.ellis@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

 

mailto:duncan.ellis@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 
11.   TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEARLY REPORT 2019/20 

 
61 - 70 

 
 Summary: This report sets out the Treasury Management 

activities actually undertaken during the first 

half of the 2019/20 Financial Year compared 

with the Treasury Management Strategy for the 

year. 

 

Options Considered: This report must be prepared to ensure the 

Council complies with the CIPFA Treasury 

Management and Prudential Codes. 

 

Conclusions: Treasury activities for the half year have been 

carried out in accordance with the CIPFA Code 

and the Council’s Treasury Strategy. 

 

Recommendations: 1. That the Council be asked to 

RESOLVE that The Treasury 

Management Half Yearly Report 

2019/20 is approved. 

 

2. That the Council be asked to 

APPROVE changes to the 

Counterparty Limits. 

Reasons for 

Recommendation: 

 

Approval by Council demonstrates compliance 

with the Codes. 

  

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt 
information and which are not published elsewhere) 
 
 

Cabinet Member(s) 

Eric Seward 

 

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: Lucy Hume, 01263 
516246, lucy.hume@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

 

12.   BEACH HUTS & CHALETS MONITORING REPORT 
 

71 - 72 
 

 For the Committee to monitor the outcome of the 
review/recommendations made by the O&S Beach Huts and Chalets 
Task & finish Group.  
 

 

13.   SPLASH LEISURE CENTRE PROJECT UPDATE BRIEFING - 
DECEMBER 2019 
 

73 - 78 
 

 To receive a briefing on the progress of the Splash Leisure Centre 
Project. 
 
 

 

mailto:lucy.hume@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 
 
 

WORK PROGRAMMES 

 
14.   THE CABINET WORK PROGRAMME 

 
79 - 82 

 
 To note the upcoming Cabinet Work Programme. 

 
 

15.   OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME AND UPDATE 
 

83 - 88 
 

 To receive an update from the Scrutiny Officer on progress made with 
topics on its agreed work programme, training updates and to receive 
any further information which Members may have requested at a 
previous meeting. 
 

 

16.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 
 

 To pass the following resolution, if necessary: 
 
“That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph _ of Part I of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to the Act.” 
 

 

17.   TO CONSIDER ANY EXEMPT MATTERS ARISING FROM 
CONSIDERATION OF THE PUBLIC BUSINESS OF THE AGENDA 
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday, 13 
November 2019 in the Council Chamber - Council Offices, Holt Road, Cromer, NR27 
9EN at 9.30 am 
 
Committee 
Members Present: 

Mr N Dixon (Chairman) Mr T Adams (Vice-Chairman) 

 Mr H Blathwayt Mrs W Fredericks 
 Mr P Heinrich Mr N Housden 
 Mr G Mancini-Boyle Miss L Shires 
 Mr J Toye Mr A Varley 
 
Members also 
attending: 

Cllr N Lloyd, Cllr P Gove-Jones, 
Cllr J Rest, Cllr A Fitch-Tillett, Cllr 
E Seward, Cllr V Gay 

 

 
Officers in  
Attendance: 

Democratic Services and Governance Officer (Scrutiny) (DS&GOS), 
Head of Legal & Monitoring Officer (HOL), Head of Environmental 
Health (HEH), Democratic Services Manager (DSM) and Head of 
Finance and Asset Management/Section 151 Officer (HF&AM) 

 
Also in 
attendance: 

The Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC), District Superintendent 
and the PCC’s Communications Officer 

 
18 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies were received from Cllr E Spagnola and Cllr N Pearce.  

 
19 SUBSTITUTES 

 
 None. 

 
20 PUBLIC QUESTIONS & STATEMENTS 

 
 Public questions were received for the Crime and Disorder Briefing, and were taken 

as part of the item. 
 

21 MINUTES 
 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 16th October were approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

22 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 None received. 
 

23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 None declared.  
 

24 PETITIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 None received.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
25 CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE BY A 

MEMBER 
 

 None received.  
 

26 RESPONSES OF THE COUNCIL OR THE CABINET TO THE COMMITTEE'S 
REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 The DS&GOS informed Members that at its meeting on 4th November, Cabinet 
considered the Committee’s recommendations on the draft framework of the 
Corporate Plan. It was reported that recommendation one had been partially 
accepted and the residents’ survey used to inform the Corporate Plan had been 
shared with Members, though the return metrics had not. Recommendations two to 
six had been accepted and implemented. The DS&GOS informed Members that 
recommendation seven had not been accepted as Cabinet felt that a better name for 
the Customer Focus theme had not been forthcoming. Recommendations eight to 
ten were accepted and had either been implemented, or would be at the appropriate 
time.   
 

27 CRIME & DISORDER BRIEFING - RURAL POLICING 
 

 The Chairman introduced the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) – Lorne 
Green, District Superintendent – Mike Britton, and the PCC’s Communications 
Officer – Dominic Chessum. 
 
The PCC thanked the Committee for the invitation to speak and stated that he had 
recently held similar briefings across the county. He congratulated the district on the 
success of its good neighbour schemes, with ten in place and two more in the 
pipeline, and suggested that these were a great help to vulnerable people suffering 
from issues of rural isolation.  
 
Domestic abuse was discussed, and the PCC stated that he was putting 
considerable effort and funding into tackling the issue, that resulted in up to sixty 
calls per day in Norfolk. He added that he had recently attended the launch event for 
a Leeway campaign to raise awareness amongst men and boys of their 
responsibility to understand the malign nature of domestic abuse and promote 
gender equality.  
 
The PCC congratulated Members on living within what was statistically, the safest 
district in the Norfolk. He added that the district’s police force had also recently 
received  national recognition for being rated within the top three police forces in the 
country for efficiency. The county itself was also reported to be within the top ten 
safest in the country. Despite the positive statistics, the PCC did accept that there 
were still problems in the district, such as the previously mentioned cases of 
domestic abuse, which were exacerbated by the isolation and distance of the district. 
As a result, the PCC stated that all Norfolk residents deserved the same police 
service whether they lived in a city, town, village or hamlet. Therefore, the PCC 
stated that tough decisions had to be made to make the best use of the limited 
resources available, and this meant that public safety was often given priority over 
non-violent crimes.  
 
The Superintendent informed Members that he had been appointed as District 
Commander for North Norfolk and Gt. Yarmouth on the 9th of September, and that 
this was his first public meeting since taking the position. Whilst he accepted that the 

Page 2



change in structure had meant the loss of a dedicated Superintendent and Chief 
Inspector, he assured Members that no front-line police officers had been lost. It was 
reported that there had been a slight increase in the ranks of inspectors as a result 
of the change, and that this had allowed more community policing to take place. 
Visibility of police officers remained a key challenge for the force, as it now covered 
a much larger area, though at three months in, the Superintendent stated that he 
had met with  many of the local authorities in the area.  
 
The Committee was informed that there were seven Safer Neighbourhood Teams in 
North Norfolk, each with their own dedicated beat manager, that were embedded in 
local communities. In addition, Members were reminded that the district also had an 
Operational Partnership Team, led by a dedicated inspector based in Cromer, that 
focused on early help via a partnership approach. On the Broads, specialist Broads 
Beat officers policed the water ways, and a dedicated Engagement Officer had been 
employed for North Norfolk to manage community surgeries and maintain the force’s 
online presence. It was reported that a number of officers were also specially trained 
to deal with wildlife issues, and two officers had been trained in advanced drone 
piloting to tackle marine and agricultural crime in remote areas. On volunteer 
policing, the Superintendent stated that there were currently ten community speed 
watch groups active in North Norfolk, with two further groups in the pipeline, whilst  
special constables were reported to have contributed over thirty hours in October. 
He added that the force aimed to cover as many community and agricultural events 
as possible, as well as hosting its own rural crime engagement events in Hickling 
and Holkham.  
 
The Superintendent raised performance monitoring, and stated that his statistics  
covered up to the end of August 2019. It was reported that all crime had increased, 
and though this was a national trend, the majority of the increase was for violent 
crimes including domestic abuse. It was suggested that this could in-part be due to 
an increase in reporting of domestic abuse, with seventy-six recorded violent crimes 
in the past four weeks, of which a third were domestic abuse. Burglary statistics 
were had remained relatively static, at around twenty per month for businesses and 
residential properties. Theft figures were considered fairly high, but with no visible 
trends there was no particular cause for concern. Vehicle theft was reported to have 
remained relatively static, though high value thefts had become a national issue. On 
more recent events, Halloween and Bonfire Night were discussed as triggers for 
anti-social behaviour, though it was reported that both had gone smoothly.  
 
On rural crime, the Superintendent informed Members that the Operation Randall 
task force had been set-up to tackle the issue, which was run centrally by the Citizen 
and Community Policing Teams. The service was linked to a fast SMS group with 
over sixty Members to enable the rapid exchange of information. Members were 
informed that a rural crime newsletter was circulated, and that the police also 
organised rural-crime action weeks. In addition to these efforts, operations such as 
Optroverse and Opspondent had been established to ensure fishing laws were being 
enforced and outboard motor theft was kept to a minimum. Work was also ongoing 
with churches and the Young Farmers Association to raise awareness of crime 
affecting these organisations in rural areas.  
 
The Superintendent stated that overall the district was in a good position, and that 
he had not seen any significant changes since taking over in September. The PCC 
added that it was important to remember that the district could not enforce its way 
out of all problems, and that there must be a joint up approach to address wider 
issues in a more holistic way. He suggested for instance that there was little to be 
gained from criminalising young people for non-serious crimes, and that in some 

Page 3



cases engagement and rehabilitation was a far better option.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 
A number of questions were submitted in advance of the meeting for review by the 
PCC and accompanying officers. The questions are included below for reference, 
followed by the responses: 
 
“The public often complain that they rarely see their local community police officer 
and have no knowledge how he carries out his/her duties. Would you be open to 
allowing a reporter from the local press to shadow a community police officer for the 
day and to report his findings in the press, subject to appropriate confidentiality and 
editorial safeguards? If agreeable could it be done on two separate days in 2 
different locations,  say Hoveton and Cromer?” – The PCC replied that he welcomed 
the proposal and would also like to accompany the officers where appropriate. He 
added that community or parish noticeboards should identify the local beat officer 
and provide their contact details for local residents. The Superintendent added that 
open days were held at local police stations to improve community engagement, and 
that details of these could be found on the Norfolk Constabulary’s website and social 
media accounts. It was agreed that details of these events would be shared with 
Members. 
 
“The main perceived difference between traditional beat policing and community 
policing is that prosecution is seen as a later option for dealing with offenders than 
the traditional methodology. The main problem that the public find is that prosecution 
policy with the community police in Norfolk means that it is rarely used even in the 
most extreme cases. Have things gone too far the other way?” – The Superintendent 
replied that community officers have the same powers to prosecute, but often looked 
for alternate methods to rehabilitate rather than criminalise individuals. He added 
that the police did not necessarily decide which cases made it to Court for 
prosecution, as this was determined by the Crown Prosecution Service via a 
threshold test. It was also suggested that prosecution could be victim led, in which 
case sometimes a simple apology was enough.  
 
“In future can we please record all crimes each month? These data should include 
e.g. ‘white-collar’ crimes, assaults, violent crimes and any others which, with these, 
are currently excluded” – The Superintendent replied that crime figures were 
reported in a standard format against Home Office statistics, therefore issues like 
white collar crime would not be recorded as such, but could be covered by fraud, for 
example.  
 
“In future can we please recognise that all crimes are not equal? Thus in our 
evaluation of data differing weightings should be given to the differing categories of 
crime.” – The PCC replied that new legislation had recently been passed to increase 
sentences for assaults on emergency workers, and a similar proposal was planned 
for animal cruelty. The Superintendent added that weighting for different crimes was 
set by legislation, although investigations could be tailored to the victim within the 
context of the crime.  
 
“The changing crime and community safety threat environment, as well as pressure 
on resources, dictate evolution of Policing models; how do you see Norfolk Policing 
model changing and, in particular, how the public and partner agencies (like NNDC) 
need to relate and interact to add value and ensure best outcomes for the County?” 
– The PCC replied that policing had changed, and that the whilst loss of PCSOs was 
unfortunate,  the Constabulary had adapted to changes in the types of crime being 

Page 4



committed. For example, cases of fraud continue to grow, which meant that more 
officers were needed behind computer screens, and not necessarily on the street as 
traditional beat officers. In addition, officers were now equipped with body cams for 
safety, used tablets for note-taking, and a roll-out of Tasers was underway for officer 
protection. Despite these changes, it was stated that victims still had to ensure that 
they reported crimes, and that everyone had a responsibility to police public 
decency.  
 
The Chairman gave permission for a member of the public that had submitted 
questions to ask a supplementary question. The Member of the public clarified that 
by white collar crimes he had meant scams, that he suggested the police ought to be 
collecting data on. The Superintendent replied that in these cases, data was 
collected by Action Fraud, and as such, was not included in local crime statistics. 
The member of the public stated that the statistics also treated all crimes equally, 
and suggested that violent crimes such as domestic abuse should be given greater 
weighting in comparison to theft, for example. He added that he believed that crimes 
could be weighted successfully for better understanding at SNAP meetings. The 
Superintendent replied that the Safer Neighbourhood Action Plan meetings allowed 
communities to express their priorities and concerns to the Constabulary, and 
therefore if a community had any particular concerns, it should raise these prior to 
the meeting.  
 
Cllr N Housden stated that he was pleased to hear that Norfolk was statistically a 
safe county, but raised concerns that stalking and harassment had risen 37% since 
2008. He then asked if this data could be raised at SNAP meetings. The Chairman 
suggested that this data could help improve the perception that that prosecutions are 
not pursued. The PCC replied that 50% of domestic abuse victims didn’t press 
charges, and that many reports were historical, therefore it was difficult to find the 
strong evidence base required for prosecution, hence the rates remained relatively 
low.  
 
Cllr T Adams stated that he was encouraged to hear of investment in drone 
technology, and asked whether funding had been obtained for thermal imaging 
cameras, whether mobile phone connectivity was an issue for the Constabulary, and 
what could be done to improve the prosecution rates for domestic abuse. The PCC 
replied that between £150k-£200k had been spent on drones, which included 
thermal imaging cameras, and a larger drone that could withstand severe weather 
conditions. On domestic abuse prosecutions, the PCC suggested that this was a 
complex issue, but noted that figures in Norfolk were good compared to the rest of 
the country. The Superintendent replied to the mobile connectivity question, and 
stated that whilst connectivity was always an issue in rural areas, officers did have 
the power to connect to local networks. Furthermore, any notes or work that was 
completed offline, was automatically uploaded once a connection was restored. On 
prosecutions, he added that the Constabulary could pursue victimless prosecutions 
if necessary, though these were reliant on discretion.   
 
In summary, the PCC stated that the local media would be invited to attend a beat, 
and that the times and dates of this would be communicated once known. He added 
that there was an open invitation for Members to see how the Constabulary worked 
on a day to day basis.  
 
The Chairman thanked the PCC and officers for their attendance.  
 

28 SPLASH LEISURE CENTRE PROJECT UPDATE BRIEFING - NOVEMBER 2019 
 

Page 5



 Cllr V Gay - Portfolio Holder for Culture and Welling introduced the update and 
informed Committee Members that the financial figures remained the same, the 
Sport England grant was on track to be delivered in late November, and whilst there 
had been some issues with construction, no additional cost to the Council was 
expected.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 
Members were reminded that the Internal Audit Team had been asked to undertake 
a review of the project, which was expected to be reported to the Governance Risk & 
Audit Committee in December, and could also be seen by O&S Members.  
 
The Chairman referred to the concrete slab issue, and asked whether the knock-on 
costs of this would be covered by the existing contingency sum, or whether the 
surveyors would absorb the costs. He also asked to what extent the contingency had 
been eroded. Cllr V Gay replied that it was her understanding that it would not affect 
the contingency, though she would seek to provide a written response for further 
clarification.  
 
Cllr N Housden asked for clarification on the contingency, and whether the 
aforementioned issues would have an impact on the project’s time schedule. Cllr V 
Gay stated that the delay would be known by the 21st November, and this would be 
communicated to Members once known. The S151 Officer later confirmed that the 
project contingency comprised of a £200k construction contingency and a £75k 
client contingency. It was confirmed that £53k of the contingency had been spent. 
 
The Chairman suggested that these questions be answered both in writing to 
Committee Members and to all Members during the Portfolio Holder updates at Full 
Council. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
To note the Update. 
 

29 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2019/20 - PERIOD 6 
 

 Cllr E Seward – Portfolio Holder for Finance introduced the report, and sought to 
clarify that South Norfolk District Council (SNDC) remained, at the time of the 
meeting, a member of the Norfolk Business Rates Pool (BRP).  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 
Members were informed that SNDC’s inclusion in the BRP had been brought into 
doubt after the NHS had publically challenged their obligation to pay business rates, 
with a decision on the outcome expected in February 2020. Whilst it was expected 
that both sides would appeal the decision if ruled out of favour, the Council’s position 
was that it would remain in the BRP until further notice, and accept its share of the 
liability if the case against the NHS was lost. It was confirmed that the Council did 
have a business rates reserve of £2.3m, to cover the compensation of £0.5m for 
smaller hospitals in the district and approximately £1m for the Norfolk and Norwich 
University Hospital, should the case be lost. Members were reminded that this was a 
national issue, and that all Council’s had to hold these reserves until the case was 
decided.  
 
Cllr E Seward informed Members that a request for match-funding required for the 

Page 6



North Walsham Heritage Action Zone Project would go to the next meeting of 
Council. 
 
On the financial provision for the purchase of waste contract vehicles outlined in the 
report, Cllr E Seward stated that it was cheaper for the Council to buy the vehicles 
itself, and doing so would also provide additional security to the continuation of the 
service if the contractor were to go into administration. 
 
Cllr G Mancini-Boyle asked if there were any other known business rates appeals 
underway, and whether they would be backdated. The HF&AM replied that there 
was an appeal underway for ATMs, but noted that there was a delay in the check 
challenge appeal process. He added that the Council would appeal the decision if 
the outcome was particularly unfavourable.  
 
Cllr T Adams asked if an estimate was available for the financial impact of the 
December General Election. The HF&AM replied that the election would be funded 
by Central Government, though the Council would have to cover the costs in the 
short-term.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
To commend the Report to Council. 
 

30 THE CABINET WORK PROGRAMME 
 

 The DS&GOS informed Members that the Cabinet Work Programme was up to date, 
and stated that Members could expect to see the Medium Term Financial Strategy at 
the December meeting.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
To note the Cabinet Work Programme. 
 

31 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME AND UPDATE 
 

 The DS&GOS informed Members that O&S Work Programme was up to date, and 
that the Treasury Management and Financial Strategy reports were expected to be 
on the agenda for the December meeting. It was suggested that the Beach Huts 
monitoring would be a small item to ensure that the Committee’s recommendations 
had made a positive impact to the service. The DS&GOS stated that the rural 
transport briefing may take time to arrange, as it was not a direct responsibility of the 
Council, and would therefore require input from an external organisation.  
 
Members were informed that all actions from the last meeting had either been 
completed, or would be at the next Council meeting.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
To note the Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme.  
 

32 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 RESOLVED 
 
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 

Page 7



public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act. 
 

33 WASTE & RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
 

 Cllr N Lloyd – Portfolio Holder for the Environment introduced the report, and 
informed Members that the joint procurement of the waste contract was a process 
that had begun in 2017. He stated that it had been a Cabinet decision to take this 
approach, and that Members had been given several opportunities to shape the 
contract requirements throughout the process. It was explained that the procurement 
was at an extremely sensitive stage in the process, and as such it was necessary for 
the  discussion to be held in private, to avoid compromising the bidding process. Cllr 
N Lloyd thanked the HEH for his tireless efforts in facilitating the process.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 
The HEH stated that the procurement process had been governed by an EU 
Directive ‘Public Contract Regulations 2017’, which allowed five different methods 
for contract procurement. There were two options available for complex procurement 
of the type required for the joint waste contract, one of which allowed for dialogue 
with bidders. It was suggested that the Council had a clear aim for the contract, but 
that there would be benefit in allowing bidders to come forward with ideas. As a 
result, the Competitive Procurement with Negotiation (CPN) method was chosen, 
which enabled negotiation without extension of the process.  
 
The HEH stated that during the initial stages of the procurement process, several 
steps were taken to mitigate risks, such as ensuring that bidders could demonstrate 
their ability to meet contractual obligations. It was reported that only two bidders 
came forward at this stage, as several companies did not have the resources to bid 
for additional contracts at the time. It was noted however, that having only two 
bidders had significantly simplified the process. Members were informed that the 
process was now in the final tenders stage, and that the contract would be awarded 
at Cabinet on 6th December.  
 
On vehicle pricing, Members were informed that due to uncertainties such as Brexit, 
prices could not be guaranteed for any longer than thirty days, hence a second 
evaluation stage was included that would transfer any risk of vehicle price increases 
onto the bidder.  
 
The Chairman asked what would happen if there was a substantive and material 
challenge during the standstill period. The HEH replied that if this were to happen, 
the Council would take advice from the appointed external legal consultant. He 
added that three different consultants had been used for the project, and it was 
hoped that the risk of challenge had been reduced to a minimum. 
 
Cllr G Mancini-Boyle asked whether the Council was protected from the market price 
fluctuation of recyclables. The HEH replied that the processing of recyclables was 
not a part of the contract, but was covered by Norfolk Environmental Waste 
Services, that NNDC was party to. He added that there was volatility in the market of 
recyclables, and that there was flexibility in the contract to protect the council from 
this. It was suggested that some recycling costs offset others, further reducing any 
financial burden on the Council.  
 
It was confirmed, following a question from Cllr P Grove-Jones, that the Councils 

Page 8



included in the contract were NNDC, Breckland DC and Kings-Lynn & West Norfolk 
BC. It was reported that Broadland DC had withdrawn from the joint procurement 
process in order to align itself more closely with South Norfolk DC.  
 
The HLS reminded Members that the Cabinet meeting due to be held on 2nd 
December had been moved to 6th December, to align with the BDC and KLWNBC. 
She added that Members would also be asked to approve funding for the waste 
vehicles at the next Council meeting. It was stated that if the waste contract bids 
were outside of the predicted budget envelope, then the Overview & Scrutiny 
Chairman would be consulted to allow Cabinet to make the urgent decision to 
provide additional funding.  
 
Cllr P Grove-Jones asked where the vehicles purchased by the Council would be 
kept, who would pay for their maintenance, and who would be liable for collection 
delays. The HEH replied that the Council would only pay for the purchase of the 
vehicles, and that all other costs such as maintenance and repair would be covered 
by the contractor. He added that each Council would have a Supervising Officer, and 
it would be their duty to ensure that the contractor was maintaining the vehicles to 
the required standard. It was suggested that the purchase arrangement would also 
provide financial benefits for the Council, as it would not be paying higher interests 
rates and profit on top of the vehicle costs. Cllr P Grover-Jones then asked whether 
the vehicles would be the same in each district, and what the cost of each vehicle 
would be. The HEH replied that the vehicles may differ slightly for each district due 
to varying access and landscape requirements. On vehicle costs, it was stated that 
the average freighter would cost between £150k-£200k, and that it was expected 
that the contractor would require between 13-15 different size vehicles to satisfy its 
obligations. Of the total fleet, ten would be for standard waste collection, two for 
garden waste, and others residual vehicles. The anticipated total sum for the 
vehicles was £4.5m, which officers did not expect to exceed. The Chairman said that 
he assumed the vehicles would be left on the premises of the contractor, and asked 
if this would be an issue. It was confirmed that the vehicles would be kept on the 
contractor’s premises, however if the contractor were to go into administration, then 
the Council would be able to prove ownership of the vehicles and have them 
released.  
 
Cllr N Housden asked if the Council could insure against the contractor going into 
administration, to which the HEH replied that the parent company of the contractor 
was required to either guarantee or bond the contract. This meant that if the 
contractor were to fail, then the parent company would need to either deliver the 
contract itself, or pay a sum to the Council to deliver the service, which would 
effectively lead to re-procurement.  
 
It was confirmed following a question from Cllr W Fredericks that the contract would 
initially last nine years for NNDC, with the other Council’s commencing from the start 
of the second year. Members were informed that the contract could be extended for 
a further eight years if required. In response to a follow-up question from Cllr W 
Fredericks, Members were informed that the vehicles were expected to last 
approximately nine years, and that after this point, the Council would have to 
procure replacements, hence the contract length was aligned to the vehicle lifespan. 
Members were informed that the current contract with Kier had been extended by 
one year for NNDC to align more closely with BDC and KLWNBC.  
 
Cllr T Adams referred to the possibility of food waste collection, and asked whether 
this would have an impact on the climate as a result of an increased carbon 
footprint. He then asked if street cleansing and parks maintenance would be 

Page 9



included in the contract, as an expected service requirement. The HEH replied that 
in terms of food waste, there was a desire to collect in some authorities as a result of 
the tonnage that could be saved from landfill, which would result in the ability to 
reclaim recycling credits. It was noted that these collection were often made weekly 
in separate bins, and would likely result in an additional cost of approximately £67k 
per annum. With regards to the carbon footprint of these collections, it was reported 
that work had been completed by the Waste & Resources Action Programme, which 
suggested that the collections would result in a carbon benefit. It was suggested that 
the rurality of the district could have an impact on this, and that it would require a 
political decision on whether or not to support these collections. The HEH stated that 
food waste collection could be mandated by Central Government from 2023 
onwards, which could allow for new burdens funding to be provided. It was stated 
that having the costed option in the contract meant that the Council would not need 
to re-tender in the future. With regards to cleansing, Members were informed that 
the requirements were based on three prioritisation zones of town centres, beaches 
and other, with zero litter requirements for the first two. It was stated that there were 
contracted deductions if the standards were not achieved.  
 
Cllr P Grove-Jones referred to public waste bins in recreational areas, and asked 
whether bigger bins were available. The HEH replied that boat waste had been 
known to cause issues, and that he would be happy to discuss specific issues after 
the meeting. In response to a question from Cllr G Mancini-Boyle, it was confirmed 
that bins on Barton-Turf Staithe were commercial waste, and would not be funded by 
the Council.  
 
Cllr W Fredericks asked if the provision for litter picking in the contract would cover 
coastal paths, to which the HEH replied that it would not for areas of private land. He 
added that community litter picks could be supported in these areas.  
 
Recommendations were discussed and the Chairman asked when would be an 
appropriate time to commence performance monitoring of the new contractor. The 
HEH replied that June would allow for a full month of data to have been collected.  
 
It was proposed by Cllr G Mancini-Boyle and seconded by Cllr A Varley that monthly 
performance updates be given on the performance of the waste contract, beginning 
in June for three months, then quarterly thereafter.  
 
A Members’ briefing was discussed and it was suggested that it would be helpful for 
the winning bidder to deliver a briefing session for Members during the mobilisation 
period. It was proposed by Cllr G Mancini-Boyle and seconded by Cllr L Shires that 
a contractor briefing be provided for Members during the mobilisation period, with 
the HEH to arrange the details.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That monthly performance updates be given on the performance of the 
waste contract, commencing in June for three months, then quarterly 
thereafter. 

2. That a contractor briefing be provided for Members during the 
mobilisation period, with the HEH to arrange the details. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 12.26 pm. 
 

_____________ 

Page 10



Chairman 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY – 2020/21 TO 2023/24 
 

Summary: 
 
 
 
 
Options considered: 

This report presents an updated Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for the period 2020/21 to 2023/24. The 
strategy has been updated to support the Corporate 
Plan for the period 2019 to 2022.  
 
The MTFS has been refreshed in the year and provides 
an updated financial projection in support of the 2020/21 
budget process.  
 

Conclusions: 
 

The financial position for 2020/21 is currently showing a 
small surplus with deficits in future years. The MTFS 
identifies the key themes and priorities for the Council in 
seeking to reduce the forecast budget gap.  
 

Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reasons for  
Recommendations: 
 

It is recommended that: 
1) Members consider and note:  

a) The current high level financial forecast for 
the period 2020/21 to 2023/24;  

b) The current capital funding forecasts;  
2) Members consider and recommend to Full 

Council: 
a) The revised reserves statement as included 

at Appendix 2 to the financial strategy.  
 

To refresh the Medium Term Financial Strategy in line 
with the Corporate Plan and to inform the detailed 
budget work for 2020/21.  

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt information and 
which are not published elsewhere) 
 

2019/20 Budget report and in year budget monitoring reports.  
 

 
  

Cabinet Member(s) 
Cllr Eric Seward 

Ward(s) affected 
All 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: Duncan Ellis, Head of Finance and 
Assets, 01263 516330, duncan.ellis@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The paper attached as an appendix to this covering report sets out the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period 2020/21 to 2023/24. It 

Page 13

Agenda Item 10

mailto:duncan.ellis@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 

sets out how both the external financial changes and internal budget 
pressures will impact on the overall financial position of the Council for the 
next four years.  

 
1.2 In addition, the Financial Strategy updates the Council’s high level financial 

projections for the medium term. It identifies the budgetary pressures on the 
Council during the period of the Corporate Plan by examining inflation, 
service pressures, income streams, reserves and the capital programme and 
seeks to identify strategies for addressing these areas within the overall 
context of the revenue and capital budgets.  
 

1.3 This is the first MTFS to be based on the new Corporate Plan as approved by 
Full Council in November 2019. 
 

1.4 Revised high level funding projections have been made and are included 
within the MTFS. These have been informed by the 2018/19 outturn position 
along with the in-year budget monitoring and updating for delivery of savings 
and additional income that was factored into the current and future financial 
forecasts as part of the 2019/20 budget process.  

 
1.5 As part of the annual budget process the Financial Strategy is the first of a 

number of pieces of work which culminate in setting the annual budget for the 
forward financial year in February 2020. 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The Council’s MTFS is the strategic document which supports the delivery of 

the Corporate Plan outcomes. It establishes how the Council’s priorities will 
be achieved by setting out the framework within which resources are 
available over the medium term and the financial challenges facing the 
Council in terms of future funding gaps. 
 

2.2 Traditionally this has been produced annually ahead of the budget setting 
process in February and an update is now due. However, best practice 
guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) recommends 
having a distinct split between the MTFS (which is produced ahead of the 
budget process) and what they consider to be a Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) which is considered alongside the budget. 
 

2.3 The attached document has therefore been refocused to better align with this 
guidance. 

 
3. MTFS vs MTFP 
 
3.1 CIPFA identifies the MTFS as being the method by which the Council plans to 

translate its long-term goals into action by considering;  
 

 Where is the organisation now? 

 Where does the organisation want to be? 

 What are the organisations plans to get there? 
 
3.2 It helps to ensure that the Council is ‘doing the right thing’ while taking 

account of internal strengths/weaknesses and external threats/opportunities. 
It should also provide a link between the Council’s long-term service 

Page 14



 

 

objectives and its financial capacity, which effectively asks the question ‘can 
the strategic objectives be achieved within the available financial envelope?’ 
 

3.3 The aim shouldn’t be to provide provisional budget figures but to provide a 
framework and context to support and inform the medium term planning 
considerations and the budget setting process. 
 

3.4 Essentially the MTFS should include consideration of a broad range of factors 
that influence the Council’s long-term financial success including; 

 

 The nature, level and balance of income sources; 

 Exposure to volatile income streams; 

 The cost base, especially overhead costs; 

 The financial structure and staffing levels; 

 The financial context; 

 The organisation’s financial management policies, systems and 
processes and; 

 The relationships with key financial stakeholders. 
 
3.5 The MTFP however has a distinctly different focus, being the annual review of 

the Council’s 3-year budgetary plan, giving consideration to the financial 
climate at both the local and national level together with available resources 
and budgetary pressures. 
 

3.6 It focuses on the revenue expenditure for the day-to-day running costs of 
providing services and also the capital expenditure which considers long-term 
investment in infrastructure to support service delivery and income 
generation. 
 

3.7 The MTFP should therefore provide; 
 

 A system that produces budgets over 3 years which are meaningful at 
the level of service delivery; 

 A planning mechanism which generates objectives and targets for 3 
forward years; 

 A process which draws together the financial and planning processes 
and ensures they are consistent; 

 A mechanism to gives the Council a firm indication of available 
funding in the forward years and; 

 A process which allows the outturn expenditure and outputs delivered 
to be measured against budgeted expenditure and targets. 

 
3.8 The MTFS was significantly refocused last year so it isn’t felt that it needs to 

be fundamentally changed but application of the best practice guidance 
should improve the overall budget process and strengthen both the MTFS 
and MTFP. 
 
 
 
 

4. Financial Implications and Risks  
 

Page 15



 

 

4.1 The detail within the financial strategy has highlighted the significant 
challenges that Local Authorities are facing in terms of the forecast funding 
reductions.  
 

4.2 The strategy provides an update to the funding forecasts for the period 
2020/21 to 2023/24.  

 
4.3 The Strategy provides details of a programme of key themes that will be 

delivered over the period of the financial strategy that will assist in reducing 
the forecast budget gap.  

3 Sustainability 

3.1 This report does not raise any sustainability issues. 

4. Equality and Diversity 

4.1 This report does not raise any equality and diversity issues. 

5. Section 17 Crime and Disorder considerations 

5.1 This report does not raise any Crime and Disorder considerations. 
 

Page 16



1 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

 

 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2020/21 to 2023/24 

North Norfolk District Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



2 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Executive Summary 
 
North Norfolk District Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a strategic 
document that supports the delivery of the Corporate Plan outcomes. The MTFS establishes 
how the Council’s priorities will be achieved by setting out the framework within which 
resources are available over the medium term and the financial challenges facing the Council 
in terms of future funding gaps. It is the method by which the Council plans translates its long-
term goals into action by considering; 
 

 Where the Council is now 

 Where the Council wants to be 

 What the Council’s plans are to get there 
 

The MTFS helps to ensure that the Council is ‘doing the right thing’ while taking account of 
internal strengths/weaknesses and external threats/opportunities. It should also provide a link 
between the Council’s long-term service objectives and its financial capacity, which effectively 
asks the question ‘can the strategic objectives be achieved within the available financial 
envelope?’ 
 
The aim shouldn’t be to provide provisional budget figures but to provide a framework and 
context to support and inform the medium term planning considerations and the budget setting 
process. Essentially the MTFS should include consideration of a broad range of factors that 
influence the Council’s long-term financial success. 
 
The MTFS Aims to: 
 

 provide a high-level assessment of the resources available to support the Corporate 
Plan outcomes, outlining the high level funding projections for the following four 
financial years (beyond the current year); 

 explore the financial context in which the Council operates taking into account a 
number of local and national factors. These will include known spending pressures and 
commitments, along with forecast future funding reductions and the impact of the 
national economic outlook; 

 explore the demands on the capital programme both in terms of ambition and 
resources along with the impact on the revenue account and reserve levels held by 
the Council; 

 highlight how the Strategy links in with and supports other Council strategies and 
policies; 

 assess the risks on which the Strategy is based; 

 provide preparatory work for the following year’s budget; 

 address the sustainability of the Council’s financial position. 
 

The MTFS is fundamentally linked to the Corporate Plan, a summary of which can be found 
on the Council’s website here. The following diagram provides an overview of the financial 
processes undertaken by the Council to ensure value for money for the tax payers. 

Page 18



3 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

 

The updated high level funding forecasts in this strategy build on previous figures from the 
2019/20 Budget setting exercise, which were forecasting future year deficits in the region of 
£2m. The updated forecasts below differ significantly from this, in the main this is due to 
postponement of the Fair Funding Review, Business Rates Review and the Spending Review, 
all of which have been impacted by the ongoing Brexit negotiations which have led to a one-
year Settlement which has meant the continuation of the previous funding regime for a further 
year. 

  

2020/21 
Updated 

Projection 

2021/22 
Updated 

Projection 

2022/23 
Updated 

Projection 

Collection Fund - Parishes  (2,420,382) (2,523,481) (2,630,456) 

Collection Fund - District  (6,397,258) (6,751,054) (7,126,515) 

Retained Business Rates  (5,191,823) (4,958,845) (5,028,223) 

Revenue Support Grant  (89,861) 0 0 

New Homes Bonus  (1,233,832) (586,071) (468,536) 
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant  (483,771) 0 0 

     

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers  (15,816,928) (14,819,451) (15,253,730) 

     

(Surplus)/Deficit  (430,013) 1,012,994 931,531 

 

The Council is currently projecting a deficit position from 2021/22 onwards. Forecasting the 
deficit allows the Council time to plan mitigating actions more effectively, meaning we are more 
likely to be successful. This strategy will explore some of the Council’s plans for addressing 
this deficit and consider some of the assumptions included. 
 

Objectives:

Corporate Plan

MTFS

Capital Strategy

Treasury Management 
Strategy

Service Plans:

Service Budgets

Capital Budgets

Asset Management Plan

Procurement Strategy

Digital Strategy

Performance Review:

Revenue and Capital 
Monitoring

Internal and External Audit

Page 19



4 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Contents 
 
1. Context 
2. Corporate Plan 2019-2023 
3. National Pressures 
4. Local Pressures 
5. Inflation 
6. Funding changes 
7. Income 
8. Links to other strategies 
9. Looking forward 
10. Closing the budget gap 
11. Risk assessment 
12. Conclusions 
 
Tables and Charts 
 
Chart 1: Inflation forecast  
Chart 2: New Homes Bonus payments (Feb 2019) 
Chart 3: Settlement Funding Assessment (Feb 2019) 
Chart 4: Funding Sources as at (Feb 2019) 
Chart 5: Settlement Funding Assessment (Sept 2019) 
Chart 6: Funding Sources (Sept 2019) 
Chart 7: Funding from Business Rates Retention (Sept 2019) 
Chart 8: New Homes Bonus Payments (Sept 2019) 
Chart 9: Council Tax Shares 
Chart 10: Council Tax Band D Projections 
Chart 11: Taxbase and Taxbase Projections 
Chart 12: Fees and Charges Income Projections 
Chart 13: Reserve Balances as at 01/04/19 
Chart 14: Projected Reserve Balances as at April 2024 
Chart 15: Capital Programme 2019/20 
Chart 16: Savings and Additional Income 
 
Table 1: New Homes Bonus Legacy Payment Projections  
Table 2: Projected Council Tax Income Growth 
Table 3: Deficit Forecasts as per 2019/20 Budget 
Table 4: Updated Deficit Forecasts Based on Updated Settlement Assumptions 
Table 5: 2020/21 Variance between Forecasts and Updated Settlement Assumptions 
 
Table 6: Previous Digital Transformation Savings Assumptions 
 
Appendix 1: Reserve Statement 
Appendix 2: Capital programme 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



5 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

1. Context 

The population of North Norfolk is gradually increasing, with residents living longer. There is 
a higher than average number of residents migrating into the district, particularly in the 50-64 
years’ age group as people retire to the area. When compared to county and regional 
averages, there are far more over 55 year olds proportionately that live in North Norfolk; this 
puts pressure on services such as Adult Social Care in the district. 
 
North Norfolk has a fairly low index of deprivation score, but is higher than the Norfolk and 
East of England averages. Areas of deprivation often require higher levels of service provision 
and are a budget pressure for both NNDC and the County Council. Barriers to housing 
services and living environment are the highest deprived domains within North Norfolk and 
these are increasing in deprivation. 
 
     The strongest business sectors in the district are: 
 

 Accommodation and food services 

 Manufacturing 

 Arts, entertainment and recreation 

 Retail 
 
There is a higher than average number of micro-businesses in North Norfolk and this trend is 
increasing. This area has a lower than average number of new business start-ups. The Council 
offers support for its small businesses through Business Rates relief schemes. 
 
North Norfolk has proportionally more residential property sales than the East of England 
average, with house prices higher than the County average. The unaffordability of houses and 
number of second homes is proportionally higher in North Norfolk and is on the increase. The 
high number of second homes particularly increases the burden on Council services, as well 
as affecting the sense of community in individual areas with a high number of second homes.  
 
A large part of the North Norfolk economy is dependent on tourism and travel to the area, with 
the Council itself benefiting directly from tourism in the form of car parking income. Visitor trips 
to North Norfolk are increasing, with July, August and December being the most popular 
months for tourists. Overall, visitors spend and the numbers of jobs in the tourism sector are 
increasing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Demographic and landscape issues that set the scene for the budget and financial 

strategy 

Page 21



6 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

2. Corporate Plan 2019 - 2023 

 
In May 2019 a new Council was elected and the Council has adopted a new Corporate Plan 
which sets out the intent and ambition of the authority for the period 2019 – 2023.  
 
The Corporate Plan details the Council’s vision for the next four years. It will provide the 
framework and context for the Council’s service provision, project interventions and resource 
allocation (financial and staffing) for the period through to 2023. The Plan will be subject to 
annual review to ensure that it continues to reflect the Council’s priorities and objectives 
throughout the next four years in response to emerging trends, policy developments and 
legislation. 
 
It reflects the essential needs and aspirations of our customers and communities and how we 
feel the Council can best use its resources to deliver services and outcomes that make a 
positive difference for everyone who lives in, works in or visits North Norfolk. 
 
However, despite the District having a number of very positive attributes we also have some 
big challenges: – responding to environmental change, increasing housing supply, supporting 
economic growth, meeting the challenges of service delivery to rural communities and the 
needs of both our young people and a rapidly ageing population. 
 
The Corporate Plan identifies six key themes where we would propose developing actions and 
allocating resources to respond to the challenges our district faces in the years to come as 
detailed below; 
 

 Local Homes for Local Need 

 Boosting Business Sustainability and Growth 

 Climate, Coast and the Environment 

 Quality of Life 

 Customer Focus 

 Financial Sustainability 
 
Planning for the future is challenging, especially given the broad range of services we provide, 
and the competing demands for increasingly scarce resources. All our services are committed 
to making improvements and finding savings, so that the Council remains efficient, effective 
and meets the day to day needs of the communities we serve. The purpose of the Corporate 
Plan is to focus on those priorities where we need to give specific attention. It will help us 
target better our dwindling capital and revenue resources and help direct and focus any bids 
for external grant support. The Plan also provides a framework against which we can assess 
our progress to support the needs of our customers and communities. 
 
The Delivery Plan, which will support the objectives contained within the Corporate Plan, is 
scheduled to be approved by Full Council in January 2020. This will detail how we will judge 
our performance; it will also be the means by which the Council agrees its improvement 
objectives. It will include the expected outcomes from each of the six key themes and be 
supported by a set of priority actions and measures through which the Council will undertake 
a self-assessment of the level of improvement made.  
 
Underpinning the Corporate Plan is the day to day business that departments undertake and 
which will be reflected in departmental Service Plans. All Service Plans are linked to the 
Corporate Plan. These plans also include the performance measures by which the delivery of 

‘Putting our customers at the heart of everything we do’ 

Page 22



7 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

wider improvement activity can be managed. The Corporate Plan is a living document and will 
be regularly reviewed throughout its life to reflect changes in the local, regional and national 
context.  
 
The priorities within the Corporate Plan were developed by talking with, and listening to the 
community, Elected Members, staff and other key stakeholders all of whom have helped to 
shape the content of the Plan.  
 
Our Strategic Priorities 2019 - 2023 
 
The Delivery Plan is still under development but is expected to include a series of priority 
actions and measures that we will monitor to assess if we have made a difference. Progress 
and tracking against the identified actions and delivery of the outcomes will form a key part of 
the Council’s performance management framework.  
 
Investment in Priority Areas 
 
Whilst the overall level of the Council’s resources is reducing it is important that a clear focus 
is maintained on matching funding to priorities. This will remain a key focus over the coming 
years to ensure the aspirations contained within the new Corporate Plan and the projects 
contained within the Delivery Plan are realised. 
 
Our Vision  
 
In order to develop a long term plan, every organisation needs to set an aspiration of where 
the organisation is aiming to be in the future. This enables everyone to be united in a shared 
direction and purpose. The Council’s aspiration is as follows:  
 

North Norfolk District Council – putting our customers at the heart of everything we 
do 

 
Our Values  
 
Our values represent the beliefs and expected behaviour of everyone working for North 
Norfolk District Council. Our values, which aim to support quality services, we; 
 

 Respect everyone and treat everyone fairly 

 Are open and honest and listen 

 Strive to offer the best value for money service 

 Welcome new challenges and embrace change 
 
‘One Team’ Team Approach 
 
In order to deliver high quality services, we need to have excellent teams to deliver them. We 
recognise that our staff are our most important resource at the heart of the services we provide. 
We are committed to investing in staff and their development so that we have well trained and 
supported employees, providing professional services and who are happy and motivated in 
their work. The One Team approach also includes Members to ensure we work closely 
together to deliver our priority outcomes and that their training needs are also met as part of 
their ongoing development. 

Page 23



8 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

3. National Pressures 

 
Brexit 
 
Following the Brexit referendum result we were due to leave the European Union (EU) on 29 
March 2019. This was subsequently extended to the 31 October and the revised date is now 
31 March 2020. At present it is still unclear as to exactly what deal will be negotiated and how 
this might then impact on a raft of factors including Local Government funding, inflation, 
businesses, availability of labour for construction etc. Due to the level of uncertainty this poses 
it is flagged as a risk rather than having any quantifiable financial cost at the present time.  
 
Volatility of investments, cost of commodities and access to funding streams are all likely to 
affect NNDC post-Bexit and indeed are already being felt in terms of things such as the waste 
contract negotiations. The focus and resource requirements of Brexit have also had an 
inevitable impact on the Spending Review, Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Review, 
all of which have slipped in terms of their original timescales and these are discussed in more 
detail below. 
 
General election 
 
Off the back of the uncertainty surrounding the ongoing Brexit negotiations a General Election 
has been called for 12 December. The timing of this has not been particularly helpful in terms 
of the Settlement announcement and this is discussed in more detail below. The result of the 
election will undoubtedly impact on Government spending priorities for future years but until 
the results are known and policies developed it will not be possible to assess any potential 
impact. 
 
Low interest rates 
 
The Bank of England bank remains at 0.75%. Investment income continues to be an important 
source of income and is generated from investment of the Council’s reserves and surplus 
funds from the timing of daily cash flows. In this climate of low interest rates we’ve had to work 
hard to generate investment returns that outstrip inflation.  
 
If this does not happen, not only does this put pressure on our budget through lost investment 
income, but inflation effectively erodes the spending power of the invested cash. On the 
upside, borrowing continues to be relatively cheap although a recent 1% increase in rates from 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) has not been particularly helpful. However there remain 
are a number of alternatives available to the Council as potential sources of capital funding for 
the council and which also provide an effective tool to help manage cash flows. As can be 
seen below the current rate of CPI inflation as at September 2019 is 1.7% which is significantly 
(0.7%) lower than at the same time last year, and our average rate of return on investments 
is 3.08%. The current year’s budget assumes that an average rate of 3.5% (3.3% 2018/19) 
will be achieved delivering income of just over £1.344m (£1.3m 2018/19 outturn). 
 
 
 

Some financial pressures are driven nationally and are beyond the control of the Council 

and may come about due to policy directions or new legislation from Central Government. 

Some of these which impact NNDC are shown below 

Page 24



9 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

4. Local Pressures 

Local Economic changes  
 
NNDC derives significant sums of income from fees and charges for services such as car 
parking and planning. These will be affected by factors outside the Council’s control, such as 
the weather, consumer confidence and the general health of the economy. 
 
Waste Management  
 
Waste management currently represents a pressure for two reasons. The first relates to the 
current outsourced contract, which is coming to an end in March 2020 and is in the process of 
being re-procured, with the new contract award expected in December. This represents a 
potential cost pressure as market conditions have changed since the contract was last let, 
during the negotiations it has also become apparent that the ongoing impact of Brexit has also 
led to more uncertainty around a number of connected markets which may impact on the final 
contract price. 
 
Recycling income is also under threat as recent quality control developments in China have 
effectively closed that market with income reducing as a result although actions have been 
taken to reduce our exposure to this, with the majority of the exposure currently resting with 
Norfolk Environmental Waste Services Ltd (NEWS). 
 
Local Council Tax Support Schemes (LCTS) 
 
The LCTS scheme was implemented in April 2013 as a replacement to Council Tax Benefit. 
This change was part of wider welfare reforms to reduce expenditure, giving responsibility of 
the replacement scheme to Local Councils. LCTS schemes should encourage people into 
work and be based on the ability to pay. Previously the Council Tax Benefit scheme was 100% 
funded through subsidy paid to the Council from the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP).  
 
From April 2013 each billing authority was given the discretion to set their own scheme, 
although at the outset the government did stipulate that the scheme would not change the 
100% maximum support for low income pensioners i.e. they would receive the same level of 
support as they did under the system of Council Tax Benefit. Funding for LCTS is no longer 
received as a separate subsidy grant but is now within the overall Local Government Funding 
system as non ring-fenced funding within the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and baseline 
funding level. The local scheme (for North Norfolk) has remained the same since the 
introduction of LCTS in 2013/14. The local scheme means that those of working age previously 
entitled to 100% maximum council tax benefit are required to pay a maximum of 8.5% of their 
council tax liability.  
 
With the changes made for the rollout of Universal Credit there will be implications for the cost 
of LCTS schemes. The Council will need to review options going forward to ensure this 
remains a cost effective, affordable scheme. 
 
 
 
 

These arise from local circumstances and demand for services. The financial effects of 

these must be dealt with by the Council, as there is often no external funding 

Page 25



10 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Workforce 
 
We recognise that our staff are our most important resource at the heart of the services we 
provide. We currently have 274 full time equivalent posts and 311 actual members of staff. 
Our pay bill is our most significant area of direct spend and stands at £12.1m as per the 
2019/20 budget. 
 
NNDC contributes 14.5% of the basic salary of all staff in the pension scheme.  In 2019/20 
this equated to nearly £1.2m. 
 
NNDC also contributed £0.97m to reduce the deficit in the scheme in 2019/20.  As a result of 
the triennial valuation, this will rise to £1.12m in 2020/21, £1.16m in 2021/22 and £1.19m in 
2022/23 – all these figures are fixed so do not depend on the number of people in the pension 
scheme. 
 
Since the last valuation, the funding position has improved from 74% to 89% and the deficit 
reduced from £20.530 million to £9.202 million, largely due to an increase in annual investment 
return from 3.8% to 4.2%.  Also the investment return on assets in total from March 2016 to 
March 2019 was 29.1%. 
 
Temporary accommodation 
 
The council has a duty to provide emergency/temporary accommodation (TA) for homeless 
households whilst assessing their case and/or ahead of securing more permanent 
accommodation. A range of accommodation is currently used to cover this duty: two units 
owned by NNDC, some units owned by housing associations, and rooms in hotels/bed & 
breakfasts.  
 
Whilst some of the costs of this accommodation are covered by housing benefit this is only 
payable up to 90% of the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) which is the amount set by 
government that can be covered by housing benefit. The difference between the actual cost 
and housing benefit levels is borne by the council. This has been increasing over recent years, 
with last year’s deficit being just under £80k and current forecasts for the end of this financial 
year at c£170k. As well as the costs to NNDC, many of the current TA options offer poor 
housing conditions for often vulnerable households – accommodation that is not self-
contained, not within District and is used for increasingly lengthy periods (the current longest 
stay in B&B style TA is 42 weeks). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 26



11 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

5. Inflation 

Staff Pay - the forecasts assume an annual pay award of 2% but also turnover savings (for 
staff leaving and temporarily vacant posts etc) of 2%. The Council is part of a national pay 
agreement and as a guide for NNDC, 1% equates to approximately £108,000 annually. 
Therefore, should the annual pay award agreement be different to the 1% assumed, say for 
example by 0.5%, this would equate to an additional cost of £54,000 per annum.  
 
General prices and contracts - the Council assumes in this financial strategy that inflation will 
follow the pattern in the graph below as outlined by the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) 
with general price increases being assumed at around 2%. There are also some areas and 
contracts, such as the waste contract, which use different indices to calculate annual increases 
and these are taken account of where appropriate. 
 
Income (fees and charges) – In recent years’ budgets for fees and charges have included a 
2% increase unless there have been specific reasons for higher or lower increases or 
alternatively the Council is not able to influence them. As part of the Council’s financial 
planning processes, and in an effort to address the pressures on future year’s budgets, the 
finance team will be working with service managers next year in the run up to the 2021/22 
budget setting process to undertake a more fundamental review of fees and charges. This will 
involve more detailed work to ensure that we fully understand our cost base so that we can 
ensure our charges are covering this as a minimum. 
 
Chart 1 – Inflation Forecast to 2023 (source OBR) 

 

 

 

Inflation is the rate at which the prices for goods and services that the Council buys are 

expected to rise. At the end of September, Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation was at 

1.7%, which is now below the Bank of England’s target rate of 2% 

Page 27



12 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

6. Funding changes 

Settlement Funding – last year’s forecasts 
 
The Local Government funding settlement is issued each year by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and for NNDC comprises several elements. 
These previously included Revenue Support Grant (RSG), New Homes Bonus (NHB), 
Baseline Funding Level (via the Business Rates Retention Scheme), Council Tax (through the 
setting of referendum principles) and Rural Services Delivery Grant.  
 
RSG is an un ring-fenced grant which can be spent on services at NNDC’s discretion. This 
has been reducing over the past years, and 2019-20 was expected to be the last year of 
receipt of this grant. The allocation was just £88,000 compared to £2.4m back in 2015/16.  
 
To reflect North Norfolk’s rural nature and the increasing cost this brings to the Council in 
terms of sparsity, NNDC receive an annual amount of Rural Services Delivery Grant. Again 
prior to this year’s provisional Settlement announcement the final year of this grant was also 
assumed to be 2019-20, reflecting a further reduction in resources of £484k. 
 
Finally, the message from Ministers at this time last year was that there was no further money 
available to support the New Homes Bonus (NHB) payments, which saw a further reduction 
in funding of £1.2m and is highlighted by the Chart 2 below. 
 

 

The loss of these elements of central funding totalled nearly £1.8m and led in no small part to 
the future years’ budget deficits forecast of c£2m. Chart 3 shows the projected settlement 

0.000

0.500

1.000

1.500

2.000

2.500

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Chart 2 - New Homes Bonus Payments (Feb 2019)

Payments for year 1 Payments for year 2 Payments for year 3 Payments for year 4

Payments for year 5 Payments for year 6 Payments for year 7 Payments for year 8

Payments for year 9 Payments for year 10 Payments for year 11

Local Government is currently going through a significant period of change in terms of the 

way it is funded and the way the funding elements are to be calculated for the future 

Page 28



13 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

reduction last year with Chart 4 highlighting the changing reliance on funding streams away 
from external grants towards locally generated income. 
 

 

 

 

0.000

0.500

1.000

1.500

2.000

2.500

3.000

3.500

4.000

4.500

5.000

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Chart 3: Anticipated Settlement Funding Assessment (Feb 
2019) 

Baseline Funding Level Revenue Support Grant

Top-up/ (Tariff) adjustment Settlement Funding Assessment

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

TOTAL GRANT FUNDING 3.451 2.601 1.770 0.984 0.760 0.632 0.543 0.451 0.570

TOTAL COUNCIL TAX 5.381 5.672 5.984 6.280 6.594 6.923 7.271 7.636 8.022

TOTAL RATES 4.197 4.819 4.734 4.731 4.811 4.888 4.961 5.057 4.860

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

£
m

Chart 4: Sources of Funding (Feb 2019)

TOTAL RATES TOTAL COUNCIL TAX TOTAL GRANT FUNDING

Page 29



14 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Settlement Funding – Spending Round 2019 
 
As the year has progressed and Brexit negotiations have continued there has been growing 
speculation that the anticipated Spending Review might well be delayed and this has indeed 
been the case. The focus on Brexit has also led to a delay to the Fair Funding and Business 
Rates Reviews, all of which has led to a one-year Settlement resulting in the continuation of 
the previous funding regime for a further year which has been extremely beneficial. This has 
had a significant impact on the high level forecasts in relation to the future years’ budget deficit 
and this is discussed in more detail below. 
 
The Spending Round 2019 announcements were made on 4 September 2019 and set out the 
Government’s spending plans for 2020/21. The detail of the announcements can be accessed 
here. This was a one-year spending review and only covered the period 2020/21, the multi-
year spending review is expected to be announced next year. While the announcements 
brought good news for the Local Government sector as a whole, the real win and the bulk of 
the additional money was understandably focused towards social care which saw access to 
funding increase by £1.5b (£1b through a new grant and £0.5b through the adult social care 
precept). 
 
The total amount of settlement funding is now anticipated to increase slightly (Chart 5 below) 
compared with the prior year forecasts shown in Chart 4 above.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

0.000

0.500

1.000

1.500

2.000

2.500

3.000

3.500

4.000

4.500

5.000

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Chart 5 - Settlement Funding Assessment, Revenue Support 
Grant and Baseline Funding Level (Sept 2019)

Baseline Funding Level Revenue Support Grant

Top-up/ (Tariff) adjustment Settlement Funding Assessment

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/spending-round-2019-what-you-need-to-know
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/829177/Spending_Round_2019_web.pdf


15 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Chart 6 shows the anticipated change in total funding sources, including Council Tax. 
 

 

The announcement of a General Election on 12 December has added some confusion in terms 
of the budgeting process for 2020/21. In a recent Technical Consultation, the government had 
said that they were “aiming to hold the provisional settlement in December” but we still do not 
know as yet how this will be handled.  
 
One scenario is that the government announces a provisional settlement before the Election 
however a pre-Election settlement seems unlikely as previous years’ announcements have 
been after this date on 8 out of 9 occasions. A more likely scenario is that the settlement is 
delayed until a new government is in place although in this instance it is still not certain that a 
provisional settlement would be announced before Christmas. In either scenario, Parliament 
would have to vote on the final settlement in February.  
 
All we can conclude for now is that the provisional settlement is more likely to be after the 
Election, but could be in either December or early January. Until the Settlement figures are 
finally confirmed the figures are still provisional and subject to change but this is the best 
information we have to go at the present time. 
 
The significant caveat with this however is that these projections are still based on future year’s 
forecasts which have not as yet been finalised and could potentially be impacted by a change 
of Government in December. 
 
While these reviews may have been postponed they have not gone away and they still have 
the potential to have a large and unpredictable impact on the Council’s finances and officers 
will continue to monitor the position and feed into any consultations as required. 
 
 

 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

TOTAL GRANT FUNDING 3.451 2.601 1.688 2.295 1.155 1.078 0.653 0.653 0.653

TOTAL COUNCIL TAX 5.381 5.730 6.043 6.397 6.751 7.127 7.513 7.917 8.336

TOTAL RATES 4.512 4.454 6.564 5.192 4.959 5.028 5.094 5.157 5.247

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

£
m

Chart 6 - Sources of Funding (Sept 2019)

TOTAL RATES TOTAL COUNCIL TAX TOTAL GRANT FUNDING

Page 31



16 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Income 

Business Rates Retention  
 
Since the 2013/14 financial year, local government has been able to retain 50% of the growth 
in the local business rates income to support services. As part of a manifesto commitment, 
the Government had pledged to allow Councils more control locally over their finances, and 
as part of this began to plan for an eventual system of 100% local retention of business rates 
growth. In exchange for this, Councils would have to forgo certain grants received from Central 
Government.  
 
Following the snap General Election in 2017 and a period of uncertainty around the new 
Business Rates Retention Scheme, MHCLG had previously confirmed a local 75% share from 
April 2020, however, as indicated above, this has now slipped back a year. 
 
The income from the current system is shared on the basis of 50% being returned to Central 
Government, 40% being retained by NNDC with 10% going to the County. However, while 
technically NNDC’s share is projected to be around £12.9m (£12.7m 2019/20), after the tariff 
payment is made the net income to NNDC reduces to around £5.2m for 2020/21 (£4.7m 
2019/20). Chart 7 shows the anticipated funding for the Council from the Business Rates 
Retention Scheme. 
 

 

* Please note: chart 7 above excludes income from renewable energy and designated    areas 
(Enterprise Zones). 
 

0.000

1.000

2.000

3.000

4.000

5.000

6.000

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Chart 7 - Funding from Business Rates (post-levy/ safety net) 
(includes effect of 100% pilot) as at Sept 2019

Post-levy retained rates Levy Safety Net

Baseline Funding Level Safet Net Threshold

The Council derives a limited and reducing amount of funding from Central Government, 

with the main sources of income now being locally raised taxes, fees and charges and 

specific grants. This section explains more about how the Council is funded and how this is 

expected to change over the coming years 

Page 32



17 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Business rates pilot - Last year’s Settlement did bring some good news and one of the key 
issues confirmed was in relation to the business rates pilot. North Norfolk District Council 
applied to be a pilot authority as part of the Norfolk Business Rates Pool, as it was forecast 
that the pilot would bring significant financial benefit to the district. The decision regarding the 
success of this application was announced alongside the Provisional Settlement and the 
excellent news was that the Norfolk wide pilot application was successful. The monitoring of 
the pilot began this August and the countywide agreement is to recognise any additional gain 
from the pilot following the end of the current financial year. This enables us to retain 75% 
within the County as opposed to the normal 50%, this is however only a pilot which will operate 
for one year so any additional income will only be a one off gain. 
 
NHS appeal - Consultants are currently advising a group of 17 NHS trusts challenging the 
business rates on their properties. This will be a test case in which Derby Teaching Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust and the others will seek 80% relief on its rates bill. If successful, this 
could see £2.35bn clawed back nationally and set a significant precedent. The preliminary 
hearing was heard on the 4 November 2019 in the High Court but the decision was deferred 
which provides an extra three months for further consideration so the decision is due in 
February 2020.  
 
Officers will continue to monitor the position and provide updates as the case progresses. It 
is difficult at the present stage to assess the financial impact this would have on the Council 
due to the countywide business rate pooling arrangements. The pool does contain a £1m 
‘volatility fund’ and the Council also has the Business rates Reserve which holds a further 
£2.4m to help mitigate against any financial impact should the case be won by the NHS. 
Further details can be found here.  
 
Due to the uncertainty generated by the NHS Trust Challenge, Norfolk Leaders decided to 
provisionally allocate funds to the projects recommended for approval to be funded from the 
Business Rates Pool fund, but not authorise any expenditure from the 2018/19 Round until 
further updates on the court case will be available, providing a £5m contingency. 
 
New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
 
The New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011/12 to incentivise and reward Councils and 
Communities that build new homes in their area. The bonus was originally paid as an un-
ringfenced grant for six years and was paid based on the net additional1 homes plus an 
additional supplement of £350 per affordable dwelling. The payment is then split between local 
authority tiers: 80% to the lower tier (NNDC) and 20% to the upper tier (NCC).  
 
Since its initial introduction the payment mechanism has undergone two fundamental changes 
which have significantly impacted on the income received by NNDC. The first was the 
transition from payments rolled up over a 6-year period up to 2016/17 (for which the Council 
received £2.1m) to 5 years in 2017/18 to the new ‘floor’ of 4 years from 2018/19 onwards. The 
second was in 2017/18 when a national baseline of 0.4% (based on property numbers within 
the district) was introduced. The combined effect of these two changes was forecast to see 
income decrease from the highest point in 2016/17 of £2.1m to the previous projection of 
£1.2m in 2019/20. 
 
Last year’s discussions around the Fair Funding Review and recent comments from the 
Treasury and MHCLG suggested that ministers didn’t feel that the NHB has achieved its 
original objective of increasing housing numbers and that they might be looking to replace the 
scheme with something else in the future. It was also clear at the time that there was no 

                                                            
1 Net additional homes as recorded on the council tax base return (submitted October annually) takes 
into growth in property numbers, demolitions and movement in empty properties.  

Page 33

https://www.room151.co.uk/resources/councils-vow-to-fight-2-35bn-business-rates-court-challenge/


18 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

funding allocated for the NHB from 2020/21 onwards. This has the effect of removing £801k 
in 2020/21, £587k in 2021/22 and £469k in 2022/23 from the previous forecasts and while it 
was anticipated that some new form of incentive scheme would probably be introduced it was 
impossible to predict at the time what this might look like and to what extent (if at all) the 
Council would benefit from it in financial terms so no income was forecast in this respect.  
 
Chart 2 above shows the forecasts at the time the 2019/20 budget was set back in February. 
The chart below now shows the updated projections following the Settlement Review 
announcements from September.  
 

 
 
 
The legacy payments to be paid under the scheme from 2020/21 to 2022/23 in Table 1 below 
are £1.234m, £0.586m and £0.469m respectively, totalling £2.288m which significantly 
supports the previously projected budget deficit. 
 
Table1 – New Homes Bonus Legacy payment projections as at Sept 2019 

        2020/21     2021/22       2022/23 

0.214 
  

0.118 0.118 
 

0.469 0.469 0.469 

0.434 0.000 0.000 

   

 
 
 
 
 

0.000

0.500

1.000

1.500

2.000

2.500

£
'0

0
0

Chart 8 - New Homes Bonus Payments (Sept 2019)

Payments for year 1 Payments for year 2 Payments for year 3 Payments for year 4

Payments for year 5 Payments for year 6 Payments for year 7 Payments for year 8

Payments for year 9 Payments for year 10 Payments for year 11 Payments for year 12

Payments for year 13 Payments for year 14

Page 34



19 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Council Tax 
 
NNDC is the billing authority for the district of North Norfolk. This means that NNDC send out 
the Council Tax bills to residents and collect the Council Tax, but most of this is then distributed 
to the County Council and Norfolk Police Authority with a further element then going to town 
and parishes councils.  
 

 

The charge on a Band D property which is retained by NNDC is currently £148.77 (£143.82 
2018/19) based on a tax base of 40,621 (39,844 2018/19). Any increases on this amount are 
restricted by a cap put in place by the Government, which means that NNDC cannot increase 
its precept by more than 3% or £5, whichever is the greater.  
 
The Government is currently consulting on this, but the current view is that this cap will remain 
the same for the coming year. Within the MTFS, it has been assumed that NNDC will increase 
its precept annually by the maximum amount to partly offset the reduction in grant funding 
from Central Government. The table below highlights the impact of the assumed increases 
within the charts below. 
 
Table 2 – Projected council tax income growth 

Council Tax       2020/21       2021/22       2022/23 

Council taxbase (for council tax setting purposes) 41,602.8 42,521.0 43,515.4 

    
Band D (standard) (£) £153.77 £158.77 £163.77 

Band D (adult social care precept) (£) £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

TOTAL Band D (incl ASC precept, excl local 
precepts) £153.77 £158.77 £163.77 

    
Council Tax (standard) £6.397m £6.751m £7.127m 

 

 

 

75%

14%

8%

3%

Chart 9 - Share of Band D 
Council Tax 2019/20

Norfolk County Council

Office of the Police & Crime
Commissioner for Norfolk

North Norfolk District Council

Town and Parish Councils

Page 35



20 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Chart 10 below shows the projected Band D charges for future years assuming the maximum 
increases currently available are applied, while chart 11 shows the forecast growth in the 
taxbase. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2017-
18

2018-
19

2019-
20

2020-
21

2021-
22

2022-
23

2023-
24

2024-
25

2025-
26

Band D (adult social care precept)
(£)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band D (standard) (£) 138.87 143.82 148.77 153.77 158.77 163.77 168.77 173.77 178.77

0.00% 3.56% 3.44% 3.36% 3.25% 3.15% 3.05% 2.96% 2.88%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

£

Chart 10 - Council Tax Band D projections

Band D (standard) (£) Band D (adult social care precept) (£)

37,274.0 37,940.0 38,748.0 39,844.0 40,621.0 41,602.8 42,521.0 43,515.4 44,515.7 45,559.8 46,630.0

1.79%

2.13%

2.83%

1.95%

2.42%

2.21%
2.34% 2.30% 2.35% 2.35%

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Chart 11 - Taxbase and Annual Change in Taxbase

Council taxbase (for tax-setting purposes) Council taxbase (%)

Page 36



21 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Fees and charges 
 
The Council has limited means to charge for some of the services it provides. Some of these 
charges are set by central government, but the Council has discretion over the levels of others. 
The latest projections for fee income are shown below. 
 
Of the c£9.4m gross income forecast for 2020/21, the most significant areas include waste 
and recycling (£3.4m) which includes things such as garden bins and commercial waste 
collection, car parking income (£2.7m) and planning income (£0.8m). 
 
It should however be noted that there are also significant costs associated with generating 
some of this income, such as the car park maintenance and management contract, the waste 
contract etc. 
 
As part of the Council’s Financial Sustainability theme within the new Corporate Plan we will 
be undertaking a fundamental review of the fees and charges structure within our control as 
part of the 2021/22 budget setting process. This is to ensure that we are at least covering our 
costs in all areas while looking to develop and increase income streams wherever possible to 
help make the budget position more sustainable in the medium to long term and to protect 
frontline services. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 8,950,000  9,150,000  9,350,000  9,550,000  9,750,000

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Chart 12 - Fees and Charges income projections

Fees and
Charges
income

£ 

Page 37



22 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

7. Links to other strategies 

The most significant linkage with the MTFS is with the Council’s Corporate Plan and this is 
discussed in detail above. There are however a number of other strategies and policies 
supported by the MTFS. 
 
Capital Strategy 2019/20 
 
The Capital Strategy sets out the Council’s approach and process to the deployment of capital 
resources in meeting the Council’s overall aims and objectives. It also provides a strategic 
framework for the effective management and monitoring of the capital programme, within 
which the Council will work in formulating the strategies for individual services.  It is a primary 
document for all capital decision making, together with the Corporate Plan and other 
strategies. 
 
The Strategy is reviewed on an annual basis to reflect the changing needs and priorities of the 
Council including residents, businesses and places. The next update will reflect the new 
Corporate Plan priorities. The aim of the Strategy is to provide a framework within which the 
Council’s capital investment plans will be prioritised and delivered. The Strategy is the 
foundation of proper long-term planning of capital investment and how it is to be delivered. 
 
The Strategy’s principal objective is to deliver an affordable programme that is consistent with 
the Council’s priorities and objectives. This Strategy is intended to be used by all stakeholders 
to show how the Council prioritises and makes decisions on capital investment and how this 
investment supports the Council’s priorities and ambitions. 
  
The capital programme approved by Full Council in February 2019 included £23.0m 
investment in 2019/20 with £6.4m, £1.1m and £1.1m in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 
respectively. This is funded through a mixture of grants (£13.4m), contributions (£0.5m), 
reserves (£5.5m), capital receipts (£7.5m) and borrowing (£4.7m). 
 
The key principles of the Strategy are to; 
 

 Deliver an affordable capital programme over the full life cycle of all projects; 

 Deliver a strategy/capital programme that is consistent with the Council’s MTFS; 

 Help to achieve the Council’s objectives and that capital investment decisions are 
made with reference to Council priorities; 

 Ensure decisions on the financing of the capital programme are taken with 
consideration to the impact on the revenue budget and the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement; 

 Ensure that capital projects follow a rigorous appraisal process considering evidence 
of need, cost, risks and outcome assessment; 

 Ensure that capital receipts will not normally be ring-fenced to specific projects unless 
the use of the receipt is governed by legislation or by a specific agreement; 

 Pursue all available external funding where there is direct compatibility with the 
Council’s priorities.  

 
 
 

The MTFS is fundamentally linked to and underpins a number of the Council’s key strategy 

and policy documents 

Page 38



23 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement is intrinsically linked with the Capital 
Strategy and the capital programme and can be accessed on the Council’s website here. The 
strategy manages the Council’s investments, cash flows, banking, money market and capital 
market transactions.  
 
The treasury management budget supports the funding of the Council’s capital plans. These 
capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need, essentially the longer-term cash flow 
planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations and understands 
the revenue implications of all capital decisions.  
 
This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using 
longer-term cash flow surpluses. When it is prudent and economic, any debt previously 
incurred may be restructured to meet the Council’s risk or cost objectives.  
 
The Council receives and approves three main reports each year;  
 

 Before the start of the financial year, the updated Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement which includes the minimum revenue provision policy statement; how 
investments and borrowings are to be organised (including prudential indicators); and 
an investment strategy; 

 

 A mid-year treasury management assurance report to update Council with the 
progress of the capital position; adherence to the treasury management strategy and 
whether any policies require revision and; 

 

 At the end of the financial year, a treasury management outturn report to provide details 
of actual indicators compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
Asset Management Plan (AMP) 
 
The Asset Management Plan (AMP) is set within the wider context on the Council’s strategic 
priorities and seeks to align and review the asset base with the Council’s corporate goals and 
objectives.  
 
The full Strategy was approved by Full Council in March 2018 and can be accessed on the 
Council’s website here. 
 
The AMP is an enabler to the Council’s key priorities; 
 

 Having assets that are fit for purpose, in locations that support the delivery of excellent 
services to our customers; 

 Driving additional and more sustainable revenue from the Council’s existing investment 
portfolio and creating a new investment portfolio that generates a legacy of sustainable 
income; 

 Where possible, working with key partners across the District to deliver a “One Public 
Estate” offer, bringing together a one stop shop for services; 

 Ensuring assets align to the Council’s key strategies, economic plan, and customer 
experience, supporting stakeholder expectations and; 

 Contribute to making the District a place where people thrive, businesses ‘succeed’ 
and visitors are welcome.  

 

Page 39

https://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk/media/5384/nndc-treasury-management-strategy-2019-20.pdf
https://modgov.north-norfolk.gov.uk/documents/s1989/Agenda%20-%2012%20March%202018.pdf


24 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

The AMP provides the framework that will guide the Council’s future strategic property 
decisions and ensure there is a consistent way of managing the Council’s land and assets. 
The future budget will include savings from rationalisation of the property portfolio and 
additional investment income from the let estate and property investments.  
 
Procurement Strategy 
 
The procurement strategy establishes the Council’s strategic approach to procurement and 
should be read in conjunction with the Finance Code of Practice, Contract Procedure Rules 

and Scheme of Delegation. It emphasises the increasing importance of using procurement 

to support wider social, economic and environmental objectives, in ways that offer real long 
term benefit and can be accessed on the Council’s website here. 
 
The Council recognises the importance of a strong and vibrant local economy and the role it 
can play in stimulating local markets. The website has been developed to provide potential 
suppliers with a host of information in relation to the Council’s procurement processes, which 
includes a portal advertising all current tender opportunities. To deliver an agile service the 
Council uses an electronic tendering system. 
 
The strategy provides a corporate focus for procurement, embracing the Council’s 
commitment to strategic procurement and its alignment with corporate objectives and values. 
The document is not intended to be a “user manual‟, although the principles contained within 
the strategy should be applied to all facets of procurement activity. Additional detail regarding 
the Council’s procurement processes can be found within the Contract Procedure Rules, there 
are user guides available on the intranet and the Procurement Toolkit. 
 
Social value is the positive impact an organisation has further to the activities it carries out. 
These can be economic, social and environmental impacts. The Council recognises that 
Social Value can significantly help it in meeting its priorities and aspirations for the District by 
supporting good jobs, better incomes and wellbeing, increased skill levels, higher value 
economy and higher productivity levels.  
 
The procurement strategy is one of the underpinning strategies that supports the Council’s 
priorities.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40

https://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk/media/1788/nndcprocurementstrategy-2015-2018.pdf


25 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

9. Looking forward 

In terms of the latest information we have regarding the funding Settlement for 2020/21, we 
have mapped the updated the resources position against the previous budget forecasts and 
these figures can be seen within the tables below. As mentioned above, the business rates 
and Fair Funding reviews have been delayed and a one-year settlement agreed and this has 
had an extremely positive impact on the financial position for 2020/21 and indeed future years 
as it has effectively delayed all of the funding revisions by a year. 
 
Table 3 shows the previous future years deficit forecast identified as part of the 2019/20 
budget setting process in February 2019 of around £2m. It should be noted that in each of 
these three tables that it has been assumed that the amount to be met from government grants 
and taxpayers is the same as the budget projection forecasts made back in February as part 
of agreeing the 2019/20 budget. When the 2020/21 budget is finally set next February the 
service figures will have been updated to take account of all the work currently being 
undertaken in preparation for this. 
 
Table 3 – Deficit forecasts as per the 2019/20 budget 
 

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers As per 2019/20 Budget Book 

 

2019/20 Base 
Budget 

2020/21 
Projection 

2021/22 
Projection 

2022/23 
Projection 

 
Collection Fund - Parishes (2,390,634) (2,420,382) (2,523,481) (2,630,456) 

Collection Fund - District (6,240,604) (6,321,120) (6,604,004) (6,891,838) 

Retained Business Rates (5,385,617) (4,567,000) (4,644,000) (4,718,000) 

Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 0 

New Homes Bonus (1,211,156) 0 0 0 
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant 0 0 0 0 

     

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers (15,228,011) (13,308,502) (13,771,485) (14,240,294) 

 
Amount to be met from 
Grants and Taxpayers (15,228,011) (15,386,915) (15,832,445) (16,185,261) 

(Surplus)/Deficit                         -    
        

2,078,413  
         

2,060,960  
          

1,944,967  

 

 

 

 

 

In the context of these pressures and reduced funding, the Council has produced a forecast 

for spend for Capital and Revenue purposes and also anticipated use of Reserves 

Page 41



26 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Now that we have more information regarding the funding Settlement, table 4 shows the 
revised funding position, with the future year’s deficit reducing to c£1m. Table 5 highlights the 
variances between the 2020/21 budget forecasts back in February 2019 and the current 
position based on the funding assumptions included within this report. 
 
Table 4 – Updated deficit forecasts based on updated Settlement assumptions 
 

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers     

  

2020/21 
Updated 

Projection 

2021/22 
Updated 

Projection 

2022/23 
Updated 

Projection 

Collection Fund - Parishes  (2,420,382) (2,523,481) (2,630,456) 

Collection Fund - District  (6,397,258) (6,751,054) (7,126,515) 

Retained Business Rates  (5,191,823) (4,958,845) (5,028,223) 

Revenue Support Grant  (89,861) 0 0 

New Homes Bonus  (1,233,832) (586,071) (468,536) 
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant  (483,771) 0 0 

     

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers  (15,816,928) (14,819,451) (15,253,730) 

 
Amount to be met from 
Grants and Taxpayers  (15,386,915) (15,832,445) (16,185,261) 

(Surplus)/Deficit  (430,013) 1,012,994 931,531 

 

Table 5 – 2020/21 Variance between forecasts and updated Settlement assumptions 
 

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers     

  

2020/21 
Projection 

2020/21 
Updated 

Projection Variance 

Collection Fund - Parishes  (2,420,382) (2,420,382) 0 

Collection Fund - District  (6,321,120) (6,397,258) (76,138) 

Retained Business Rates  (4,567,000) (5,191,823) (624,823) 

Revenue Support Grant  0 (89,861) (89,861) 

New Homes Bonus  0 (1,233,832) (1,233,832) 
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant  0 (483,771) (483,771) 

     

Income from Government 
Grant and Taxpayers  (13,308,502) (15,816,928) (2,508,426) 

 
Amount to be met from 
Grants and Taxpayers  (15,386,915) (15,386,915)  

(Surplus)/Deficit  

          
2,078,413  (430,013)  

Page 42



27 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

The significant caveat with this however is that these projections are still based on future year’s 
forecasts which have not as yet been finalised and could potentially be impacted by a change 
of Government in December. The funding figures and associated (surplus)/deficit projections 
also assume that nothing changes in terms of service area expenditure, as this will be 
considered as part of the Actual budget setting process. As we know, there are some 
significant unknown cost pressures coming forward at the present time, such as the final costs 
for the new waste contract, which again will need to be factored in to the budget and MTFP in 
February.  
 
Key changes through the Settlement and projections 
 
The Settlement review update has had a significant impact on the future budget projections. 
The key changes are highlighted below. 
 
Council tax (£76k) – this has increased slightly due to revised assumptions regarding tax base 
growth. However this is also based on a £4.95 increase in council tax and the referendum 
principles have not as yet been confirmed. Not increasing the council tax by this amount next 
year would see a reduction of just over £200k next year and in each of the following years. 
 
Retained business rates (£625k) – projections for future years have increased due to a 1 year 
delay in the Business Rates Baseline Reset (now 1st April 2021) and a reduced impact 
predicted from the Fair Funding Review.  
 
Revenue support grant (£90k) - this will be rolled forward into 2020/21 as part of the 1 year 
Spending Round, adjusted for inflation. 
 
New Homes Bonus (NHB) (£1,234k) - this will be rolled forward into 2020/21 as part of the 1 
year Spending Round, adjusted for inflation. The current projections also assume that we will 
still receive legacy payments for NHB whereas we’d previously been working on the 
assumption that the payments would cease at the end of 2019/20. The payments are now 
forecast to end in 2022/23 which means an additional £2.3m of funding which we weren’t 
expecting. 
 
Rural Services Delivery Grant (£484k) - this will be rolled forward into 2020/21 as part of the 
1 year Spending Round, adjusted for inflation. 
 
Appendix 2 shows the projected movement in the various funding streams over the coming 
years. It should be noted that the Settlement figures for 2020/21 are still subject to final 
agreement in December/January so there is still an element of risk around these but it is the 
best information currently available. 
 
The overall impact of all of these changes is significant for the next financial year and will see 
approximately £2.5m of additional resources being made available to help support the budget, 
based on the assumptions, caveats and projections outlined above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



28 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Reserves 
 
The Council holds a number of ‘useable’ reserves both for revenue and capital purposes which 
fall within one of the following categories: 
 

 General Reserve 

 Earmarked Reserves 

 Capital Receipts Reserve 
 
The General Reserve is held for two main purposes: 
 

 to provide a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cashflows and avoid 
temporary borrowing and; 

 a contingency to help cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies. 
 
As part of setting the budget each year the adequacy of all reserves is assessed along with 
the optimum level of general reserve that an authority should hold. The optimum level of the 
general reserve takes into account a risk assessment of the budget and the context within 
which it has been prepared. 
 
Earmarked Reserves provide a means of building up funds to meet known or predicted 
liabilities and are typically used to set aside sums for major schemes, such as capital 
developments or asset purchases, or to fund restructurings. A number of contingency reserves 
are also held by the Council to reduce the impact on Council Tax payers of future uncertain 
events such as business rate appeals or clawback of benefit subsidy. 
 
All reserves, general and earmarked, will be reviewed over the coming months as part of 
setting the budget for 2020/21, with a view that where commitments have not been identified 
and funds or reserve balances are no longer required these are re-allocated to specific 
reserves to address other requirements as applicable. 
 
Use of reserves to balance a budget provides only a short term solution as the funds can only 
be used once. They can however be used to smooth the impact of funding gaps over the short 
to medium term and to allow for planning and implementing projects and work streams that 
will deliver a longer term financial benefit through reduced costs and/or additional income.  
 
The reserves balance as at 1 April 2019 stood at £22.8m, the budgeted use of reserves for 
the 2019/20 financial year is £9.5m which leaves a forecast balance as at 1 April 2020 of 
£13.3m. This strategy predicts a fall in the levels of Reserves held from £22.8m to £11.1m 
by April 2024.

Page 44



29 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

                                  

Reserves can be used to fund one-off costs for projects that will deliver a longer-term benefit. 
For example the use of the Restructuring and Invest to Save reserve to fund one-off 
restructuring costs, where a restructuring will deliver a longer term saving for a service and for 
some of the implementation and project costs for the Business Transformation programme 
that will deliver future savings. The use of reserves in this way will be considered as part of 
the full business case for individual project proposals, taking into account the payback period 
of the project along with indirect financial implications, for example, reduced balances 
available for investment and the associated loss of investment income.  
 
The Capital Receipts Reserve consists of capital receipts from the disposal of assets and land 
and is used to fund the capital programme. Capital receipts can’t ordinarily be used to fund 
revenue expenditure.   
 

 

 

Chart 13 - Reserves Balances as at 01/04/19

General Fund Reserve

Managing Risk and Uncertainty

Delivering our Budget Strategy

Community and Localism

Service Reserves

Asset Investment

£22.8m

 -  5  10  15  20  25

Balance at 01/04/19

Balance at 01/04/20

Balance at 01/04/21

Balance at 01/04/22

Balance at 01/04/23

Balance at 01/04/24

Millions

Chart 14 - Projected Reserve
Balances to April 2024

General Fund Reserve

Managing Risk and Uncertainty

Delivering our Budget Strategy

Community and Localism

Service Reserves

Asset Investment

Page 45



30 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Capital  
 
The capital programme shows what the Council intends to spend on purchasing new assets 
and improving its existing ones over the next three years. 
 
As capital expenditure is incurred, a source of finance must be identified. This can be done 
through capital receipts, grants and other revenue resources or alternatively through 
borrowing.  
 
Any expenditure that is financed through borrowing increases the Council’s ‘Capital Financing 
Requirement’ (CFR). Each year a revenue charge called the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) is made to reflect the funding of the CFR by the taxpayer, it is required to be set aside 
to cover the repayment of debt caused by the need to borrow for capital purposes. As the 
need to borrow increases, the CFR and MRP also increase. If the Council has sufficient cash 
resources to meet the expenditure, it will not be necessary to borrow externally and cash 
balances can be used to cover the expenditure. This is referred to as ‘internal borrowing’ and 
attracts an MRP charge in the same way that external borrowing does.  
 
New projects, which are included in the programme in the future, will need to be financed by 
MRP if no capital resources such as capital grants or capital receipts from future asset sales 
are available.  Alternatively existing revenue reserves could be used to finance these projects 
through a revenue contribution to capital (RCCO) which would avoid the need to make an 
MRP charge.  
 
Future external borrowing is assumed to finance a portion of the Sheringham Leisure Centre 
replacement project and could also be used to finance future capital projects. Short-term 
borrowing rates are currently very low, meaning it may be preferable to undertaking long-term 
borrowing at the current time. 
 

                

The capital programme has been realigned at a very high level to match with the new 
Corporate Plan priorities but this will be fundamentally reviewed as part of setting the 2020/21 
budget. 
 

6,372,045 

4,507,732 

7,783,846 

6,887,994 

1,083,627 

Chart 15 - Capital Programme 2019/20

Boosting Business
Sustainability & Growth

Local Homes for Local Need

Climate, Coast & the
Environment

Quality of Life

Customer Focus

£26.6m

Page 46



31 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

10. Closing the Budget gap  

The Council has had a number of work streams in place since 2016/17 which have been 
designed and implemented to create sustainable cashable savings and to help achieve a 
balanced budget. Chart 16 below shows the savings achieved since 2016/17 and the savings 
projections for 2019/20 onwards. Each of the work stream areas are discussed in more detail 
below. 
 

 

Financial sustainability 
 
Financial sustainability is one of the six key themes within the Corporate Plan and is 
fundamental to this strategy and setting balanced budgets in future years. The Delivery Plan 
that will underpin the various projects and initiatives and support the delivery of the outcomes 
within the Corporate Plan, is still, under development, and is currently scheduled to be agreed 
by Full Council in January 2020. Some of the initiatives will include reviews of the way we 
currently budget and giving consideration to zero based budgeting whilst also undertaking a 
fundamental review of our fees and charges structure. The aspiration is to have a balanced 
medium term budget which does not rely on reserves to balance the position. 
 
Our investment approach   
 
There is therefore an ever increasing need for Councils to take a more commercial and 
business-like approach to all elements of their business. A Commercialisation Strategy is 
currently under development, the successful delivery and implementation of this strategy will 
ultimately require a step change in the way that the Council thinks, acts and works in the 
future.  

 -  1,000,000  2,000,000  3,000,000  4,000,000

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£

Chart 16 - Savings and 
Additional Income

Savings/Additional Income
Achieved 2016/17

Savings/Additional Income
Achieved 2017/18

Savings/Additional Income
Forecast 2018/19

Savings/Additional Income
Forecast 2019/20

Savings/Additional Income
Forecast 2020/21

The Council’s strategy for reducing the budget gap covers several work streams as outlined 

below. 

Page 47



32 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

 
A more commercial approach will directly support the Council’s objective of becoming 
financially sustainable for the future and will form part of the Delivery Plan for this key theme. 
Part of the strategy development process will involve the identification and prioritisation of a 
number of internal and external projects which will consider income generation, efficiency and 
doing things differently. The focus will be on making every pound count for our residents, 
improving efficiency, investment and increasing social value. 
 
The Local Government Association (LGA) are encouraging Councils to move towards a more 
commercial culture as a way of developing sustainable self-funding streams that reflect 
Council’s individual priorities and place shaping aspirations. Consequently, the Council needs 
to think about how it can maximise revenue and efficiencies moving forwards – a 
Commercialisation Strategy is a key part of this in order to deliver managed change that is 
right for North Norfolk. Any strategy needs to be considered in the context of our key corporate 
objectives, flowing from the new Corporate Plan and giving consideration to Member 
aspirations, our geographical location and demographics. 
 
Property Investment 
 
Opportunities for investment in property, whether direct or indirect, continue to be considered 
to achieve either a direct income stream from the asset or improved returns on investment. A 
programme of asset valuations and condition surveys are currently underway. This will help 
us better understand the challenges faced in terms of maintaining and improving our asset 
base over the medium to long term to ensure that it remains fit for purpose, delivering income 
for the Council where appropriate. 
 
Opportunities for the most efficient utilisation of the Council’s assets and maximising returns 
where appropriate are vital. Indirect property investments via treasury instruments, such as 
the purchase of pooled property funds, can potentially provide a return in terms of a regular 
income and growth in the value of the investment.  Under the Treasury Management Strategy, 
the Council has made investments in a number of pooled funds which invest in property.  One 
of these funds, the LAMIT Pooled Property Fund, invests exclusively in various property assets 
with the aim of achieving a regular income and growth in the value of the investment.  
 
In addition to these investments, the Council has agreed to provide capital expenditure loans 
to registered providers of social housing to facilitate the delivery of housing in the district, along 
with achieving an income return on its investment. The Council can choose to use its capital 
resources to finance a programme of asset investment which aims to deliver long-term 
revenue streams for the Council and work on an ongoing basis is required to identify the most 
appropriate projects. This strategy of direct property investment can ensure a secondary 
benefit to the district as it is possible to generate an economic growth benefit when the 
investment is located in North Norfolk. This is, however, more resource intensive to manage 
than externalising these investments. 
 
Digital Transformation 
 
Building upon the Business Transformation project that commenced in 2014 savings continue 
to be identified from changes to service delivery from the implementation of new technology 
and changes to business processes. The overall programme will be delivered over a number 
of years and as projects have been rolled out there have been changes to working practices 
which have helped to deliver efficiencies. Phase 1 of the Digital Transformation programme is 
currently being closed down, having achieved annual savings of £427,000 by the end of 
2018/19. Phase 2 of the project is in the planning and early delivery stages, and is being 
funded by a £940,000 contribution from the Invest to Save reserve.  
 

Page 48



33 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

It is recommended that further consideration is given to this work stream area in the future in 
terms of both the title and the focus which has historically been savings driven with customer 
benefits attached in terms of increasing digitisation. However, the key to this work in the future 
should really be refocussed on ‘putting our customers at the heart of everything we do’. This 
will undoubtedly still lead to further efficiencies and potential cashable savings but the direction 
of travel should be to improve our services for our customers first and foremost because that’s 
the right thing to do. It will also mean that staff can spend longer prioritising ‘added value 
activities’ rather than getting bogged down with inefficient paper based processes. 
 
The previous high level saving assumptions can be seen within the table below. However, at 
the present time these have been removed until we have a clear delivery plan of projections 
with savings identified for each project where appropriate.  
 
Table 6 – Previous Digital Transformation savings assumptions 
 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Savings to be 
removed (£) 

83,750 167,500 335,000 335,000 

 
Shared Services, collaboration and selling services 
 
Creating efficiencies through shared services continues to be a priority for central government. 
Identifying such opportunities must therefore continue at a local level, ensuring that realistic 
and deliverable benefits can be achieved. This could include joint procurement opportunities 
such as the new waste contract, shared service delivery where appropriate and selling 
services via arrangements such as East Law. 
 
Identifying opportunities to work alongside other public sector partners and organisations to 
deliver services, such as our successful partnerships with NCC Children’s Services, the Early 
Help Hub and the DWP in terms of shared office space and the One Public Estate agenda. 
 
Growing Business Rates and NHB 
 
Under the previous allocation method of New Homes Bonus (NHB) there was a direct financial 
benefit to the Council from growth in homes through the NHB funding and through increasing 
the council tax base and additional income generated from council tax. Whilst new housing 
growth has have an impact on the demand for local services, there will still be a net gain in 
terms of overall income for delivery while the NHB remains and subject to potential changes 
to the baseline. It does however seem increasingly likely that we will only receive legacy 
payments for the next 3 years before this scheme is ultimately replaced by something else. 
 
For similar reasons growing the business rates base will have a direct impact on the level of 
business rates income retained locally. Equally, maintaining existing business rates remains 
a priority in that decline in business rates will reduce the amount of income retained. 
 
Council Tax  
 
The increased flexibilities around council tax discounts and increases following the removal of 
the tax freeze grant in 2016/17 provides a further potential income stream.  Further review of 
the current level of discounts can also provide additional income, recommendations on the 
level of council tax discounts will be reported for approval as part of the budget reports for 
2019/20. 
 
 

Page 49



34 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

New opportunities 
 
Given the current uncertainties around issues such as Brexit and changes to the Local 
Government funding mechanisms it will be essential to identify new opportunities to either 
increase income, increase efficiency through the redesign of services, explore new 
partnership models for service delivery etc and this will be one of the main challenges over 
the medium term. The Council’s commercialisation approach and the projects stemming from 
this will be key to this. 
 
While the Council’s reserves do provide some level of comfort over the short term and could 
be used to address budget deficits this is not a sustainable financial strategy for the medium 
to long term. 
 
Lobbying and consultation 
 
The Council will continue to lobby central government in terms of increased funding allocations 
and relaxation/increased flexibility in terms of the council tax referendum principles which will 
be one of the things required if income raising and decision making is ever to be truly local. 
We will also continue to respond to all relevant consultations, in particular at the present time 
on relation to the business rates and Fair Funding reviews. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



35 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

11. Risk Assessment 

A comprehensive financial risk assessment is undertaken for the revenue and capital budget 
setting process to ensure that all risks and uncertainties affecting the Council’s financial 
position are identified. These are reviewed each year as part of the refresh of the MTFS. The 
key strategic financial risks to be considered in developing the MTFS are included within the 
table below. 
 
Medium term financial planning, set against a backdrop of severe reductions in Government 
funding, carries with it a significant element of risk. Many factors may impact on the figures 
presented here and themes have been highlighted where appropriate. Most significant are the 
potential revisions in Local Government finance policy, continual cuts to general grant and 
significant revisions to the New Homes Bonus and its ultimate replacement (if anything does 
eventually come forward). Should there be a change in emphasis, particularly around the 
assessment of need (Fair Funding Review) and Business Rates funding, there may be further 
reductions above those presented in the plan that would place further pressure on the council 
to deliver balanced budgets, without impacting on frontline services.  
 
The effects that Brexit will have on the strategy cannot be underestimated. Whilst there is still 
much uncertainty, not least around the terms of the UK’s exit from the EU, we have already 
seen a worsening of long term interest rate projections and challenges in terms of contract 
procurement. A recession would present further risk, in particular significant areas of income 
such as lettings income, planning fees and car park income that are linked directly to economic 
demand.  
 
Beyond this, further policy announcements from the Government may have effects on our 
finances in the coming years as undoubtedly will the election of a new Government in 
December 2019.  
 
Despite these risks, we will continue to plan effectively to strengthen our culture of strong 
financial management so that the Council can continue to meet its Corporate Plan priorities 
and provide the best possible services to the district.  
 

Risk Likelihood Impact Risk Management 

1. Future available 
resources less than 
assumed. 

Possible High Annual review of reserves and reserves 
policy to identify future resources. 
Assumptions on funding for 2020/21 and 
beyond are based on best estimates at 
this time. A prudent approach has been 
adopted based on previous years’ 
experience as well as using regional 
network contacts to inform modelling.  

2. Volatility of 
Business Rates 
funding given 
uncertainty around 
impact of appeals  

Likely  High  Volatility of funding stream outside of 
council control but impact mitigated by 
establishment of specific earmarked 
reserve and financial monitoring 
framework. Modelling of potential 
impacts is used to inform internal 
financial planning. Maintaining watching 
brief in relation to NHS case. 

The Council takes a measured risk based approach to the budget setting process 

Page 51



36 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

3. Pay Awards, fee 
increases and price 
inflation higher than 
assumed  

Possible  Medium  Impact of potential increases mitigated 
by central contingency budget for pay, 
price increases and care fees. Where 
pay awards have been agreed these will 
be factored into the future estimates.  

4. Future spending 
plans underestimated  

Possible  Medium  Service planning process identifies 
future budget pressures and these will 
inform the indicative budget forecasts. 
An effective budget monitoring 
framework is in place to identify in year 
and potential future cost pressures.  

5. Anticipated 
savings/ efficiencies 
not achieved  

Possible  High  Regular monitoring and reporting takes 
place but the size of the funding cuts 
increase the likelihood of this risk. Non-
achievement of savings would require 
compensating reductions in planned 
spending within services. Greater 
scrutiny of savings has taken place since 
2016/17 through the revenue monitoring 
process.  

6. Revenue 
implications of capital 
programmes not fully 
anticipated  

Unlikely  Low  Capital bid approval framework identifies 
revenue implications and links to Council 
priorities. Full analysis of revenue 
implications assessed and considered in 
scenario planning.  

7. Income targets not 
achieved  

Possible  Medium  Current economic climate likely to 
impact. Regular monitoring and 
reporting takes place. Full review of fees 
and charges scheduled for 2021/22 
along with an annual review process.  

8. Budget monitoring 
not effective  

Unlikely  High  Regular monitoring and reporting in line 
with corporate framework. Action plans 
developed to address problem areas. 
Regular reports to Cabinet and to O&S. 
Track record of delivering budget.  

9. Exit strategies for 
external funding 
leasing/tapering not 
met  

Possible  Medium  Regular monitoring and reporting. 
Government policy to remove ring 
fencing provides greater flexibility.  

10. Loss of principal 
deposit  

Unlikely  Medium  Limited by the controls in the Treasury 
Management Strategy which balance 
security of deposit over returns. Impact 
limited due to the strategy of a diverse 
portfolio with top rated institutions.  

11. Interest rates 
lower than expected  

Unlikely  Low  Regular review, monitoring and reporting 
on interest rates. Prudent assumptions 
on likely interest rates for 2020/121 will 
be incorporated into the budget.  

12. Collection rates 
for retained business 
rates and council tax 
lower than anticipated  

Possible  High  Impact mitigated by the review of bad 
debt provisions and availability of 
reserves. Monitoring of Collection Fund 
is formally incorporated into the revenue 
monitoring process.  

Page 52



37 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

13. Financial budget 
impacts of UK’s vote 
to leave the European 
Union (Brexit) 

Likely  Medium 
/High  

Continue to work collaboratively with 
treasury advisors and central 
government departments to assess 
potential budget impacts whilst the 
Government attempts to ensure an 
effective transition to a new economic 
relationship between the U.K. and the 
EU, including clarifying the procedures 
and broad objectives that will guide the 
process.  

15. All MTFS risks not 
adequately identified  

Unlikely  Low  Council’s Risk Management Framework 
ensures all operational and strategic 
risks are identified as part of the annual 
service planning process.  
 

 

12. Conclusions 

Previous budget forecasts made back in February 2019 were made at a time of significant 
uncertainty in terms of future Government finances due to the Fair Funding Review, Business 
Rates Review and the Spending Review. This uncertainty was further heightened by the 
ongoing Brexit negotiations which added an additional level of complexity in terms of future 
forecasts and potential impacts on the economy, inflation, suppliers, contracts etc. 
 
The updated high level funding forecasts within the strategy build on previous figures from the 
2019/20 Budget setting exercise in February which were made within this context, at which 
time we were forecasting future year deficits in the region of £2m. 
 
The updated forecasts now differ significantly from this, in the main this is due to 
postponement of the various reviews outlined above, all of which have been impacted by the 
ongoing Brexit negotiations which have led to a one-year Settlement which has meant the 
continuation of the previous funding regime for a further year. 
 
As outlined above the key changes within the Settlement, mainly around retained business 
rates, New Homes bonus and the Rural Service Delivery grant, will see approximately £2.5m 
of additional resources being made available to help support nest year’s budget, based on the 
assumptions, caveats and projections outlined above. It should be noted that the Settlement 
figures for 2020/21 are still subject to final agreement in December/January so there is still an 
element of risk around these but it is the best information currently available. 
 
The Council is still currently projecting a deficit position from 2021/22 onwards but due to the 
funding changes announced as part of the Settlement in September the budget gap has 
reduced to around £1m. Forecasting the deficit allows the Council time to plan mitigating 
actions more effectively, meaning we are more likely to be successful. 
 
In conclusion, while the additional income has had an extremely beneficial impact on the future 
year’s projections it is still not clear how the various reviews will impact on local government 
funding and what impact the election in December might have. While the Settlement figures 
announced in September were positive they are still provisional until agreed in 
December/January so there remains an element of risk that these may still change although 
it is unlikely to change for next year. We do however have the benefit of reserves should these 
be required to support and short term funding requirements. 

How will this help shape our future budget and financial projections? 

Page 53



38 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Appendix 1 – Projected Reserve Movements  

Reserve Purpose and Use of 
reserve 

Balance 
01/04/19 

 
 

£ 

Updated 
Budgeted 

Movement 
2019/20 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/20 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2020/21 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/21 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2021/22 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/22 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2022/23 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/23 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2023/24 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/24 

 
 

£ 

General 
Fund - 
General 
Reserve 
 

A working balance 
and contingency, 
current 
recommended 
balance is £1.85 
million. 
 

2,360,755 (47,619) 2,313,136 (114,940) 2,198,196 (64,980) 2,133,216 (50,000) 2,083,216 (50,000) 2,033,216 

Earmarked Reserves:            

Capital 
Projects 

To provide funding 
for capital 
developments and 
purchase of major 
assets. This 
includes the VAT 
Shelter Receipt.  

 

2,480,010 (1,869,655) 610,355 (373,000) 237,355 0 237,355 0 237,355 0 237,355 

Asset 
Management 
 

To support 
improvements to 
our existing assets 
as identified 
through the Asset 
Management Plan. 
 

1,087,006 (416,400) 670,606 0 670,606 0 670,606 0 670,606 0 670,606 

Benefits 
 

To mitigate any claw 
back by the 
Department of 
Works and Pensions 
following final 
Audited subsidy 
determination.  Also 
included are service 
specific grants for 
service 
improvements. 

840,308 (12,838) 827,470 (253,801) 573,669 0 573,669 0 573,669 0 573,669 

P
age 54



39 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Reserve Purpose and Use of 
reserve 

Balance 
01/04/19 

 
 

£ 

Updated 
Budgeted 

Movement 
2019/20 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/20 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2020/21 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/21 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2021/22 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/22 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2022/23 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/23 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2023/24 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/24 

 
 

£ 

Broadband 
 

Earmarks £1million 
for superfast broad 
band in North 
Norfolk.  

1,000,000 (1,000,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0     0 

Building 
Control  
 

Building Control 
surplus ring-fenced 
to cover any future 
deficits in the 
service. 
 

191,428 0 191,428 0 191,428 0 191,428 0 191,428 0 191,428 

Business 
Rates 
 

To be used for the 
support of local 
businesses and to 
mitigate impact of 
final claims and 
appeals in relation 
to business rates 
retention scheme. 
 

2,438,428 (63,241) 2,375,187 (24,747) 2,350,440 (18.000) 2,332,440 (18,000) 2,314,440 (18,000) 2,296,440 

Coast 
Protection 
 

To support the 
ongoing coast 
protection 
maintenance 
programme. 

180,595 (42,302) 138,293 (42,302) 95,991 0 95,991 0 95,991 0 95,991 

Communities 
 

To support projects 
that communities 
identify where they 
will make a 
difference to the 
economic and social 
wellbeing of the 
area.  

1,151,796 (285,563) 866,233 (242,000) 624,233 (242,000) 382,233 (242,000) 140,233 0 140,233 

P
age 55



40 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Reserve Purpose and Use of 
reserve 

Balance 
01/04/19 

 
 

£ 

Updated 
Budgeted 

Movement 
2019/20 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/20 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2020/21 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/21 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2021/22 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/22 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2022/23 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/23 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2023/24 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/24 

 
 

£ 

Economic 
Development 
and Tourism 
 

Earmarked from 
previous 
underspends within 
Economic 
Development and 
Tourism Budget. 
 

170,621 (10,000) 160,621 0 160,621 0 160,621 0 160,621 0 160,621 

Election 
Reserve 

Established to meet 
costs associated 
with district council 
elections, to smooth 
the impact between 
financial years.   
 

123,000 (120,000) 3,000 40,000 43,000 40,000 83,000 40,000 123,000 40,000 163,000 

Enforcement 
Works 
 

To meet costs 
associated with 
district council 
enforcement works 
including buildings 
at risk  
 

137,354 0 137,354 0 137,354 0 137,354 0 137,354 0 137,354 

Environment
al Health 
 

Earmarking of 
previous 
underspends and 
additional income to 
meet Environmental 
Health initiatives. 
 

323,332 (40,000) 283,332 0 283,332 0 283,332 0 283,332 0 
 

283,332 

 

Grants 
 

Revenue Grants 
received and due to 
timing issues not 
used in the year. 
 

536,670 (14,655) 522,015 (14,655) 507,360 (14,655) 492,705 (14,655) 478,050 (14,655) 463,395 

P
age 56



41 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Reserve Purpose and Use of 
reserve 

Balance 
01/04/19 

 
 

£ 

Updated 
Budgeted 

Movement 
2019/20 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/20 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2020/21 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/21 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2021/22 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/22 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2022/23 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/23 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2023/24 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/24 

 
 

£ 

Housing   
 

The balance of the 
Housing Community 
Grant funding 
received in 2016/17 
& Homelessness 
prevention grants. 
 

2,534,316 (1,855,663) 678,653 (111,073) 567,580 (21,126) 546,454 0 546,454 0 546,454 

Land 
Charges 

 

To mitigate the 
impact of potential 
income reductions.  
 

289,280 0 289,280 0 289,280 0 289,280 0 289,280 0 289,280 

Legal  
 

One off funding for 
Compulsory 
Purchase Order 
(CPO) work and 
East Law Surplus. 
 

128,691 0 128,691 0 128,691 0 128,691 0 128,691 0 128,691 

LSVT 
Reserve 

 

To meet the cost of 
successful warranty 
claims not covered 
by bonds and 
insurance following 
the housing stock 
transfer. 
 

435,000 0 435,000 0 435,000 0 435,000 0 435,000 0 435,000 

New Homes 
Bonus  
(NHB) 

 

Established for 
supporting 
communities with 
future growth and 
development and 
Plan review* 
 

512,183 (337,034) 175,149 0 175,149 0 175,149 0 175,149 0    175,149 

P
age 57



42 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Reserve Purpose and Use of 
reserve 

Balance 
01/04/19 

 
 

£ 

Updated 
Budgeted 

Movement 
2019/20 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/20 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2020/21 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/21 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2021/22 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/22 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2022/23 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/23 

 
 

£ 

Budgeted 
Movement 

2023/24 
 

£ 

Balance 
01/04/24 

 
 
£ 

Organisational  
Development  

 

To support 
apprenticeships 
and internships and 
capacity throughout 
the organisation. 
 

314,475 (78,246) 236,229 (11,078) 225,151 0 225,151 0 225,151 0 225,151 

Pathfinder 
 

To help Coastal 
Communities adapt 
to coastal changes. 
 

143,168 (40,076) 103,092 (20,038) 83,,054 0 83,054 0 83,054 0 83,054 

Planning  
 

Planning income 
earmarked for 
Planning initiatives 
including Future 
Plan Review. 
 

109,684 0 109,684 50,000 159,684 50,000 209,684 50,000 259,684 50,000 309,684 

Property 
Investment 
Fund 

 

To Fund the 
acquisition and 
development of new 
land and property 
assets 

3,000,000 (2,000,000) 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 

Restructuring 
& Invest to 
Save 
Proposals 

 

Restructuring costs 
and to fund invest to 
save initiatives. 
  

2,352,537 (965,800) 1,386,737 (325,000) 1,061,737 (240,000) 821,737 0 821,737 0 821,737 

Sports Hall 
Equipment & 
Sports 
Facilities 

To support Sports 
Hall equipment 
renewals.  5,682 0 5,682 0 5,682 0 5,682 0 5,682 0 5,682 

Total Reserves 22,846,317 (9,199,092) 13,647,225 (1,442,634) 12,204,591 (510,761) 11,693,830 (234,655) 11,459,175 7,345 11,466,520 

 

P
age 58



43 North Norfolk District Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

Appendix 2 – Capital Programme 2019/20 and beyond 

Corporate Priority 

Scheme 
Total 

Current 
Estimate 

Pre 31/3/19 
Actual 

Expenditure 

Current 
Budget 
2019/20 

Actual 
Expenditure 

2019/20 

Updated 
Budget 
2020/21 

Updated 
Budget 
2021/22 

Updated 
Budget 
2022/23 

  £ £ £   £ £ £ 
Boosting Business 
Sustainability & Growth 

    
7,835,057  

         
463,012  

           
6,372,045  

     
1,452,465  

     
1,000,000                   -                    -    

Local Homes for Local Need 
    
4,161,649  

         
972,047  

           
4,507,732  

        
566,292  

     
1,020,000  

    
1,000,000     1,000,000  

Climate, Coast & the 
Environment 

  
18,128,761  

    
10,316,172  

           
7,783,846  

     
1,142,516  

          
28,743                   -                    -    

Quality of Life 
  
14,723,120  

      
1,073,626  

           
6,887,994  

        
812,142  

     
4,731,500  

    
2,030,000                  -    

Customer Focus 
    
3,097,970  

      
1,609,343  

           
1,083,627  

        
813,034  

        
135,000  

       
135,000        135,000  

Total Expenditure 
  
47,946,557  

    
14,434,200  

         
26,635,244  

     
4,786,449  

     
6,915,243  

    
3,165,000     1,135,000  

        

Grants and Contributions   

         
10,040,874   

     
1,028,743  

    
1,000,000     1,000,000  

Reserves   

           
7,835,416   

     
1,373,000                   -                    -    

Capital Receipts      

           
7,901,972   

        
180,000  

       
135,000        135,000  

Internal / External 
Borrowing   

              
856,982   

     
4,333,500  

    
2,030,000                  -    

Total Funding    

         
26,635,244   

     
6,915,243  

    
3,165,000     1,135,000  

 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 2019/20 

 
Summary: This report sets out the Treasury Management activities 

actually undertaken during the first half of the 2019/20 
Financial Year compared with the Treasury Management 
Strategy for the year. 
 

Options Considered: This report must be prepared to ensure the Council 
complies with the CIPFA Treasury Management and 
Prudential Codes. 
 

Conclusions: Treasury activities for the half year have been carried out 
in accordance with the CIPFA Code and the Council’s 
Treasury Strategy. 
 

Recommendations: 1. That the Council be asked to RESOLVE that 
The Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 
2019/20 is approved. 

 
2. That the Council be asked to APPROVE 

changes to the Counterparty Limits. 
Reasons for 
Recommendation: 

 
Approval by Council demonstrates compliance with the 
Codes. 

  
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt information and which 
are not published elsewhere) 
 
 

Cabinet Member(s) 
Eric Seward 
 

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: Lucy Hume, 01263 516246, 
lucy.hume@north-norfolk.gov.uk   

 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11

mailto:lucy.hume@north-norfolk.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 2019/20 

 
 
Introduction   

 
The Authority adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 

Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and annual reports. 

The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2019/20 was approved at a meeting on 

27th February 2019. The Authority has invested substantial sums of money and is therefore 

exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 

changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk remains 

central to the Authority’s treasury management strategy. 

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a Capital 

Strategy, a summary document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and 

financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The Authority’s Capital 

Strategy, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by full Council on 27th 

February 2019. 

External Context 

 

Economic background: UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPIH) fell to 1.7% year/year in 

August 2019 from 2.0% in July, weaker than the consensus forecast of 1.9% and below the 

Bank of England’s target. The most recent labour market data for the three months to July 

2019 showed the unemployment rate edged back down to 3.8% while the employment rate 

remained at 76.1%, the joint highest since records began in 1971. Nominal annual wage 

growth measured by the 3-month average excluding bonuses was 3.8% and 4.0% including 

bonuses.  Adjusting for inflation, real wages were up 1.9% excluding bonuses and 2.1% 

including. 

 

The Quarterly National Accounts for Q2 GDP confirmed the UK economy contracted by 0.2% 

following the 0.5% gain in Q1 which was distorted by stockpiling ahead of Brexit. Only the 

services sector registered an increase in growth, a very modest 0.1%, with both production 

and construction falling and the former registering its largest drop since Q4 2012.  Business 

investment fell by 0.4% (revised from -0.5% in the first estimate) as Brexit uncertainties 

impacted on business planning and decision-making. 
 

Tensions continued between the US and China with no trade agreement in sight and both 

countries imposing further tariffs on each other’s goods. The euro area Purchasing Manager 

Indices (PMIs) pointed to a deepening slowdown in the Eurozone. These elevated concerns 

have caused key government yield curves to invert, something seen by many commentators 

as a predictor of a global recession.  

The Bank of England maintained Bank Rate at 0.75% and in its August Inflation Report noted 

the deterioration in global activity and sentiment and confirmed that monetary policy 

decisions related to Brexit could be in either direction depending on whether or not a deal is 

ultimately reached. 

Financial markets: After rallying early in 2019, financial markets have been adopting a more 

Page 63



 

  2 

risk-off approach in the following period as equities saw greater volatility and bonds rallied 

(prices up, yields down) in a flight to quality and anticipation of more monetary stimulus from 

central banks. Gilt yields remained volatile over the period on the back of ongoing economic 

and political uncertainty. Recent activity in the bond markets and PWLB interest rates 

highlight that weaker economic growth remains a global risk.  
 

Credit background: There were minimal credit rating changes during the period.  

 

Our treasury advisor Arlingclose will provide credit ratings which are specific to wholesale 

deposits including certificates of deposit, rather than provide general issuer credit ratings.  

Non-preferred senior unsecured debt and senior bonds are at higher risk of bail-in than 

deposit products, either through contractual terms, national law, or resolution authorities’ 

flexibility during bail-in. Arlingclose’s creditworthiness advice will continue to include 

unsecured bank deposits and certificates of deposit (CDs) but not senior unsecured bonds 

issued by commercial banks.  

 

Local Context 

 
On 31st March 2019, the Authority had net investments of £35.450m arising from its revenue 

and capital income and expenditure. The treasury management position at 30th September 

2019 and the change during the year is shown in Table 1 below. 

 

Table 1: Treasury Management Summary 

 
31.3.19 
Balance 

£m 

Movement 
£m 

30.9.19 
Balance 

£m 

Long-term borrowing 

Short-term borrowing  

 

0 

-3.000 

 

0 

-7.000 

0 

-10.000 

Total borrowing -3.000 -7.000 -10.000 

 

Long-term investments 

Short-term investments 

 

 

34.250 

4.200 

 

 

0 

-3.300 

 

 

34.250 

0.900 

 

Total investments 38.450 -3.300 35.150 

Net borrowing / investments 35.450 -10.300 25.150 

 

 
Borrowing Strategy during the period 
 

At 30th September 2019 the Authority held no long-term loans, (same positon as at 31st 

March 2019), as part of its strategy for funding previous and current years’ capital 

programmes. Some external borrowing is assumed in the current estimates of future year’s 

capital funding, but has not yet been taken out. 

 

Page 64



 

  3 

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing will be to strike an appropriately low risk 

balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for 

which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term 

plans change being a secondary objective.  

 

With short-term interest rates remaining much lower than long-term rates, the Authority 

considers it to be more cost effective in the near term to use internal resources or borrowed 

rolling temporary / short-term loans instead of longer term debt.   

 

Other Debt Activity 
 
Although not classed as borrowing, the Authority can raise capital finance via Private 

Finance Initiatives and finance leases, etc. The Authority has not done this in the period to 

30th September 2019. 

 

Treasury Investment Activity  
 
The Authority holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 

expenditure plus balances and reserves. During the six-month period, the Authority’s 

investment balances ranged between £34.270m and £46.985m due to timing differences 

between income and expenditure. The investment position is shown in table 2 below. 

 

Table 2: Treasury Investment Position 

 
31.3.19 
Balance 

£m 

Net  
Movement 

£m 

30.9.19 
Balance 

£m 

30.9.19 
Rate of 
Return 

% 

Banks & building societies 
(unsecured) 

0.000 0.000 0.000 n/a 

Covered bonds (secured) 2.250 0.000 2.250 1.01 

Government (incl. local 
authorities) 

2.000 -2.000 0.000 0.90 

Corporate bonds and loans 0.000 0.000 0.000 n/a 

Money Market Funds 2.200 -1.300 0.900 0.72 

Cash plus funds 3.000 0.000 3.000 1.15 

Short-dated bond funds 3.000 0.000 3.000 0.97 

Strategic bond funds 5.000 0.000 5.000 3.04 

Equity income funds 8.000 0.000 8.000 5.59 

Property funds 5.000 0.000 5.000 3.04 

Multi asset income funds 8.000 0.000 8.000 4.49 

Total investments 38.450 -3.300 35.150 3.08 

*Weighted average maturity will apply to the first five categories above and to cash plus and 

bond funds.   

 

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its funds 

prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury investments before 

Page 65



 

  4 

seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Authority’s objective when investing money 

is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring 

losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 

In furtherance of these objectives, and given the increasing risk and falling returns from 

short-term unsecured bank investments, the Authority has diversified into more secure 

and/or higher yielding asset classes. The Authority’s Treasury advisors, Arlingclose, compile 

quarterly investment benchmarking across their client base. Table 3 shows extracts from 

this, focussing on measures of risk (credit rating and bail-in exposure) and return (Rate of 

return). 

 

Table 3: Investment Benchmarking – Treasury investments managed in-house 

 
Credit 
Score 

Credit 
Rating 

Bail-in 
Exposure 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(days) 

Rate of 
Return 

% 

31.03.2019 3.00 AA 34% 80 0.92% 

30.09.2019 6.28 A 100% 1 0.92% 

Similar LAs 4.26 AA- 61% 80 0.86% 

All LAs 4.28 AA- 62% 28 0.83% 

*Weighted average maturity  

 

 

The Authority’s £32m of externally managed pooled funds generated an £0.583m income 

return which is used to support services in year, and £1.6m of capital growth. Because these 

funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, 

their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s investment objectives 

is regularly reviewed.  

 
Non-Treasury Investments 
 

The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised Treasury Management Code now covers 

all the financial assets of the Authority as well as other non-financial assets which the 

Authority holds primarily for financial return. This is replicated in MHCLG’s Investment 

Guidance, in which the definition of investments is further broadened to also include all such 

assets held partially for financial return.  

 

The Authority also holds £4.023m of such investments in  

 directly owned property £0.923m 

 loans to housing associations £3.1m     

 

These investments are expected to generate £0.183m of investment income for the Authority 

in the year after taking account of direct costs, representing a rate of return of 4.5%.  This 

compares favourably against Treasury investment rates, particularly against shorter term 

deposits. These investments represent a different risk to the Authority, as property 

investments do not carry the same interest rate or credit risk, but there is the risk of loss of 

income through voids and other market factors. They also require more staff time to manage 

than externalised pooled investments. 

Page 66



 

  5 

 

The Authority does not currently rely on these funds from Non-Treasury investments to 

balance the budget, but in a climate of reduced Government funding, is likely to do so more 

in the future. To guard against the risk of reducing levels of income from these investments, 

they are proactively managed by experienced and qualified individuals within the Authority, 

with external advice as required.  

 

Treasury Performance  

The Authority measures the financial performance of its treasury management activities both 

in terms of its impact on the revenue budget and its relationship to benchmark interest rates, 

as shown in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Performance 

 
Actual 

£m 

YTD 
Budget 

£m 

Over/ 
(under) 

Actual 
% 

Budget 
% 

Over/ 
under 

Term Deposits & 
Covered Bonds 

0.035 0.007 0.028 0.81 

 

1.09 

 

Under 

Pooled Funds 0.583 0.607 (0.024) 3.63 3.57 Over 

Total treasury 
investments 

0.618 0.614 (0.004) 4.44 4.66 Under 

 

 

Compliance  

 

The Chief Finance Officer reports that all treasury management activities undertaken during 

the first 6 months of the 2019/20 financial year complied fully with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice and the Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy. Compliance with 

specific investment limits is demonstrated in table 5 below. 

 

Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is 

demonstrated in table 6 below. 

 

Table 5: Debt Limits 

 
H1 

Maximum 

30.9.19 

Actual 

2019/20 
Operational 
Boundary 

2019/20 
Authorised 

Limit 

Complied? 

Yes/No 

Total debt £12m £10m £15.030m £23.400m Yes 

 

Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 

significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash 

flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure.  

  

Table 6: Investment Limits 

Page 67



 

  6 

 
Half-year 

Maximum 

30.9.19 

Actual 

2019/20 

Limit 

Complied? 

Yes/No 

Any single organisation, except the UK 
Central and Local Government  

 
Nil Nil 

£6m 
each 

Yes 

UK Central and Local Government  
 

£2m Nil Unlimited  

Any group of organisations under the same 
ownership 

Nil Nil 
£6m per 

group 
Yes 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management 

Max £7m Max £7m 
£15m 
per 

manager 
Yes 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s 
nominee account 

£2.25m 
(King & 
Shaxon) 

Nil 
£10m 
per 

broker 
Yes 

Foreign countries  
 

Nil Nil 
£6m per 
country 

Yes 

Registered providers and registered social 
landlords 

Nil Nil 
£10m in 

total 
Yes 

Unsecured investments with building 
societies 

Nil Nil 
£5m in 

total 
Yes 

Loans to unrated corporates Nil Nil 
£5m in 

total 
Yes 

Money Market Funds £11.425m £0.9m 
£16m in 

total 
Yes 

Real estate investment trusts  

 
Nil Nil 

£10m in 
total 

Yes 

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

 

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using 

the following indicators. 

 

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 

monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of its investment portfolio.  This is 

calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 

arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 

assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 

 

 
30.9.19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Target 

Complied? 

Portfolio average credit score 6.28 6.0 No 

 

 

At the half year, due to cash flows, the Authority had very low levels of liquid cash which 

were deposited mostly with Barclays Bank. This reduces the average credit score of the 

portfolio below its usual levels, so we have not complied with this indicator.  

Page 68



 

  7 

 

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 

monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three-

month period, without additional borrowing  

 

 
30.9.19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Target 

Complied? 

Total cash available within 3 months £0.9m £3m No 

 

The current market for short term borrowing means liquidity is easily accessible, so it has 

not been necessary to hold excess liquid cash in the bank or Money Market Funds. 

 

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  

The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interests was:  

 

Interest rate risk indicator 
30.9.19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Limit 

Complied? 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% 
rise in interest rates 

£0.04m £0.6m Yes 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% 
fall in interest rates 

£0.04m £0.6m Yes 

 
The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans and 

investment will be replaced at current rates. 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 

refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were: 

 

 
30.9.19 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Complied? 

Under 12 months £10m 100% 0% Yes 

12 months and within 24 months 0 100% 0% Yes 

24 months and within 5 years 0 100% 0% Yes 

5 years and within 10 years 0 100% 0% Yes 

10 years and above  0 100% 0% Yes 

 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of borrowing is the earliest 

date on which the lender can demand repayment.   

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than a year: The purpose of this indicator is to control 

the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  

The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were: 

 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Actual principal invested beyond year end £34.25m £32m £32m 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £42m £42m £42m 

Complied? Yes Yes Yes 

Page 69



 

  8 

 

 

Outlook for the remainder of 2019/20 

 

The global economy is entering a period of slower growth in response to political issues, primarily the 

trade policy stance of the US. The UK economy has displayed a marked slowdown in growth due to 

both Brexit uncertainty and the downturn in global activity. In response, global and UK interest rate 

expectations have eased dramatically. 

 

The Authority expects Bank Rate to remain at 0.75% for the foreseeable future but there remain 

substantial risks to this forecast, dependant on Brexit outcomes and the evolution of the global 

economy. Expectations are for gilt yields to remain at low levels for the foreseeable future and the 

risks to be weighted to the downside; that volatility will continue to offer longer-term borrowing 

opportunities. 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 70



Beach Hut and Chalet Review Report 

Introduction 

In 2018 an Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group was set up in order to review the 

Council’s beach hut and chalet service. The review included the weekly and annual lets, with 

a full review of all processes, fees and charges in order to identify operational improvements 

and highlight options for future efficiencies and service enhancements. 

Recommendations 

A summary of the major recommendations are: 

 Move to online booking and charge collection of weekly lets 

 Move the annual lets from 1 to 5 year licences  

 Increase prices of the annual lets based on the review findings 

Included within the above recommendations are a number of smaller actions including the 

production of a marketing plan, review of key change systems, and training of staff to 

implement. All of which have been successfully completed. 

Another key element highlighted is a continued maintenance regime in order to maintain the 

standards of the service. A full condition survey was undertaken to address this. 

Progress 

The online booking system has now been designed and implemented. The system has been 

in place since October 2018. There has been some excellent feedback received from our 

customers, complimenting the simplicity of the system. The new system has produced some 

improvements and efficiencies to the service significantly reducing the amount of customers’ 

queries, as previously all bookings were completed manually. A marketing plan was completed 

and this have been implemented in order to promote the online booking system. 

The licences have now been changed to a 5 year lease for all beach huts and chalets. This 

process has been advised and supported by the Council’s legal and assets teams.  

The new fees and charges have also been implemented together with the new leases. Both 

the increased prices and the 5 year lease have caused a greater number of licence holders to 

not renew. However, given that we are still holding significant waiting lists (e.g. up to nine 

years in Sheringham), it has not caused an issue for the service or occupancy of the huts and 

chalet sites. 

Financial Position 

The figures below represent the financial position following the implementation of the 

recommendations:   

   2019  2018 

Annual Lets  £139,511.02 £111,670.13 

Weekly Lets  £28,690.75 £31,463.83 

 

Total   £168,201.77 £143,133.96 

 

There is a good increase to the income of the annual lets due to the fee increases. The weekly 

let bookings are slightly down. Whilst this is disappointing there are good reasons that may 

Page 71

Agenda Item 12



explain this position. Some of the customers struggle with booking online. Whilst the new 

system is simple, a number of our customers are not yet fully conversant with online activity. 

Also, summer 2019 weather was not as good as 2018. We have anecdotal evidence (based 

on beach user and car park figures) that there have been fewer visitors to the district this 

season compared to 2019 and so this would impact on the weekly let bookings. 

 

Future Work 

 

We will now review the online booking marketing plan, in order to bring in new ideas and 

strategies to increase bookings for next year. 

 

The condition surveys have been analysed and a three year work programme has been 

written. This work will commence in the spring for those most urgent improvement that are 

required. 

 

Monitoring of the service will continue in order to ensure that the service operates as 

successfully as possible. 

Page 72



Sheringham Leisure Centre: project update December 2019 
Detailed information relating to any aspect of the project can be obtained from Robert Young (Senior Reporting Officer) or Kate Rawlings (Project Manager) 

and clarification of any aspect of the table’s content can be provided at or following the meeting. 
 

 Forecast/ expected position Current position Notes/ comments 

Time Completion date: 29th Aug 2021 Enabling works completed Aug 2019 Construction 
started 16 Sept 2019 
Proceeding according to programme 

No variations to contract 

timescale needed 

 

Budget £12,697,139 £12,697,139 Sport England grant agreed 
(£1m) – evidence provided 
to discharge conditions in 
order that 97% of funds will 
be drawn down imminently 
 
The cost summary for the 
project is attached as  
appendix A  

Issues log   Pre-commencement planning conditions have been 

discharged 

 Traffic management and parking for Splash have been 

addressed by road markings and new signage  

 Gas main (wrongly diverted during the enabling works) 
has been correctly positioned, with no impact upon the 
budget or the programme. 

 A previously unidentified gas main was discovered at 

the site. This needs to be diverted but will not impact on 

the programme. Impact on the budget is not yet fully 

identified but is likely to be up to £27,000 and this will 

be met by the contingency. Investigations are underway 

as to any potential claim for some of the costs 

(however, had it been previously known it would still 

have to had to be diverted).  

 Resource capacity in NNDC communications team 

remains an issue, however revision of the web pages 

has now been completed by the project team and a 

proactive communications plan will be undertaken by 

 
 
 
 

 This was put right by the 
contractor responsible 

 

 Any additional costs 
incurred will be covered 
by the project 
contingency budget 

 
 
 
 
 

 Support of the 
communications team 
will be vital as the project 
moves forward 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 13



staff in the Leisure team in liaison with Everyone Active. 

 

Risk log A risk log is being maintained.  These 
are routinely monitored and revised 
and controls are introduced to 
manage/ mitigate risks and provide 
assurance 

A continual risk item for the Council is the potential 
‘failure’ of the existing facility, prior to the new one 
being completed, which would adversely impact 
financially on the Council. The maintenance and life-
cycle log for Splash will remain under review in order to 
flag any likely issues. Contractual provisions are in place 
to help mitigate any impact and the fact that the new 
facility is now being built should address any 
reputational impacts. 
  
The principal risks to the construction project at this 
time are: 

 Any potential delay that might result from 

disruption to site services or infrastructure (e.g. 

gas main leak) 

 Delays in completion impacting on operational 
contract 

 Outstanding value engineering items not 
confirmed (£47k savings to be found) 
 

The Portfolio Holder will have 
access to the Risk Log and will 
be notified of all risks. These 
will also be reported via GRAC 
in the usual manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
As the construction moves on 
the likelihood of unknown site 
issue (e.g. ground condition) 
reduces 
 
 
 
The identified value 
engineering savings are 
expected to be found (90% 
certain). Sport England need 
to confirm any significant 
revised specifications 

Project 
Governance 

The Portfolio Holder (PH) is Cllr 
Virginia Gay, the Council’s Senior 
Reporting Officer (SRO) is Robert 
Young and the internal Project 
Manager is Kate Rawlings. Various 
other technical experts from within 
the Council are involved in the project 
as appropriate ways. The Council has 
procured the services of: an 
Employer’s Agent, Project Manager 
and Cost Consultant (all provided by 
REAL Consulting); a Technical 
Architect (Saunders Boston 

 Project governance for the construction phase has 
been established and the first three monthly cycles 
of meetings have been held 

 An audit of the project has been undertaken and 
will report shortly 

 The revised Project Initiation Document will be kept 
under review 

Routine meeting and briefing 
procedures are now being 
followed (including those 
agreed by O&S Committee) 
 
The outcome of the audit will 
be reported through the usual 
procedures and the project 
team will take note and 
respond accordingly to any 
relevant recommendations 

P
age 74



Architects); and a Mechanical, 
Electrical and Pool Filtration 
Consultant (Silcock Dawson) 

Communications The Communications Plan covers: 
 Planned activities at key 

milestones 

 Responses to issues and 
events as they occur 

 Routine communications 
to interested parties 
(including via the website) 

 Good publicity was given to the announcement 
by Sport England to transfer the grant money 
(including a piece on BBC Radio Norfolk) 

 Communications plan enhanced by activities 
planned in conjunction with Metnor, including 
their own newsletters and suggestions around 
local engagement of young people (to be agreed 
shortly) 

 

The lack of resources and 
capacity in the Council’s 
Communications team 
continue to be of concern.  

 

P
age 75

https://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk/projects/sheringham-leisure-centre/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Sheringham Leisure Centre Cost Summary December 2019 

COSTS INCURRED  Budget Baseline Actual Variance 

     

Enabling Works  £436,562.00 £402,532.00 -£34,030.00 

Skate Park  £154,016.00 £154,016.00 £0.00 

Professional fees pre-construction phase  £504,582.00 £504,582.00 £0.00 

Surveys pre-construction  £124,249.00 £124,249.00 £0.00 

Utility diversion fees  £21,012.00 £21,012.00 £0.00 

     

TOTAL  £1,240,421.00 £1,206,391.00 -£34,030.00 

     

 
COSTS/BUDGETS IN PROGRESS  Budget Baseline Report to date Variance 

     

Main contract - new build and demolition  £10,903,389.00 £10,976,687.00 £73,298.00 

Construction Contingency  £200,000.00 £126,702.00 -£73,298.00 

Professional fees -construction phase  £184,450.00 £220,370.00 £35,920.00 

Asbestos Survey  £5,000.00 £5,000.00 £0.00 

NNDC Direct Items  £90,000.00 £90,000.00 £0.00 

Client Contingency  £73,878.00 £73,878.00 £0.00 

     

TOTAL  £11,456,717.00 £11,492,637.00 £35,920.00 

     

     

GRAND TOTAL  £12,697,138.00 £12,699,028.00 £1,890.00 
 

 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



North Norfolk District Council 
Cabinet Work Programme  

For the Period 01 December 2019 to 29 February 2020 
 

  Key Decision – a decision which is likely to incur expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more, or affect two or more wards. (NNDC 
Constitution, p9 s12.2b) 
* Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (As amended by the Local Authorities (Access to Information) (Exempt Information) (England) Order 

2006) 

        

Decision Maker(s) Meeting 
Date 

Subject & Summary Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Lead Officer  Status / additional 
comments 

December 2019      
Scrutiny  
 
Cabinet 

16 Oct 2019 
 
06 Dec 2019 

Homelessness & 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy  
(consultation) 
 

Andrew Brown Lisa Grice 
Housing Options 
Manager 
01263 516164 

 

Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny11 
 
Council 

06 Dec 2019 
 
 
 
17 Dec 2019 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
 

Eric Seward 
 

Duncan Ellis 
Head of Finance & 
Assets 
01263 516330 
 

 
Pre-scrutiny 
 

Scrutiny  
 
Cabinet 
 

13 Nov 2019 
 
06 Dec 2019 
 

Award of Waste 
Contract  

Nigel Lloyd Steve Hems 
Head of 
Environmental Health  

Pre-scrutiny 
 

Cabinet  
 
Scrutiny 
 

06 Dec 2019 
 
11 Dec 2019 
 

Treasury Management 
Half Yearly report 

Eric Seward Duncan Ellis 
Head of Finance & 
Assets 
01263 516330 

 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

06 Dec 2019 
 
17 Dec 2019 

Fees & Charges  
 
 

Eric Seward Duncan Ellis 
Head of Finance & 
Assets 
01263 516330 
 
 
 

 

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 14



North Norfolk District Council 
Cabinet Work Programme  

For the Period 01 December 2019 to 29 February 2020 
 

  Key Decision – a decision which is likely to incur expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more, or affect two or more wards. (NNDC 
Constitution, p9 s12.2b) 
* Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (As amended by the Local Authorities (Access to Information) (Exempt Information) (England) Order 

2006) 

        

Decision Maker(s) Meeting 
Date 

Subject & Summary Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Lead Officer  Status / additional 
comments 

January 2020      
Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny  

06 Jan 2019 
 
15 Jan 2020 
 

Corporate Plan – 
delivery plan 

Sarah Butikofer Nick Baker 
Head of Paid Service 
01263 516 

 

February 2020      
Scrutiny 
 
Cabinet 
 
Council 

15 Jan 2020 
 
03 Feb 2020 
 
26 Feb 2020 

2020/21 Base Budget 
and Projections for 
2021/22 to 2022/23 

Eric Seward Duncan Ellis 
Head of Finance & 
Assets 
01263 516330 

 

Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 
Council 

03 Feb 2020 
 
14 Feb 2018 
 
21 Feb 2018 

Treasury Strategy 
2018/19 

Eric Seward Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 
01263 516246 

 

Upcoming      
Cabinet 
 

 New Road, North 
Walsham – options 
 
 

Greg Hayman Renata Garfoot 
 
  

Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 

 Digital 
Transformation 
Update 

Sarah Butikofer 
 

Sean Kelly 
Head of IT & Digital 
Transformation 
01263 516276 
 

 

P
age 80



North Norfolk District Council 
Cabinet Work Programme  

For the Period 01 December 2019 to 29 February 2020 
 

  Key Decision – a decision which is likely to incur expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more, or affect two or more wards. (NNDC 
Constitution, p9 s12.2b) 
* Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (As amended by the Local Authorities (Access to Information) (Exempt Information) (England) Order 

2006) 

        

Decision Maker(s) Meeting 
Date 

Subject & Summary Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Lead Officer  Status / additional 
comments 

Cabinet  
 
Council 

 Enabling Land at 
Sheringham 

 Renata Garfoot 
Estates & Assets 
Strategy Manager 
01263 516086 
 

 

Cabinet 06 Dec 2019 North Walsham – 
temporary 
accommodation 

Andrew Brown Nicky Debbage 
Housing Strategy & 
Delivery Manager 
01263 516027 

 

 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview & Scrutiny 13 November 2019 
Outcomes & Action List 

 
           ACTION BY          PROGRESS / COMPLETION     
               (Additional comments in italics) 

11: BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2019/20 - PERIOD 6 
 
RESOLVED  
 
To commend the Report to Council. 

 
 
 
 

Council 

 
 
 
 

November Council 
Meeting 

 

 

ITEM 11: SPLAS LEISURE CENTRE PROJECT UPDATE 
BRIEFING – NOVEMBER 2019 
 
 
RESOLVED  
 
To note the update. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

O&S Committee 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

November Meeting 
 
 
 
 

 

ITEM 13: WASTE & RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT 
PROCUREMENT 
 

RESOLVED 

1. That monthly performance updates be given on the 
performance of the waste contract, commencing in June 
for three months, then quarterly thereafter. 

2. That a contractor briefing be provided for Members 
during the mobilisation period, with the HEH to arrange 
the details. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of Environmental Health 

 
 
 
 
 

 
1. O&S Meeting June 

2020 
2. April 2020 

 

 

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

Meeting Topic Lead Officer / Member Objectives & desired outcomes Time cycle 
June 2019     

Scrutiny 
Sheringham Primary School 
Parking Interim Report 

Matt Stembrowicz 
To seek approval for the Task & Finish Group 
to continue 

 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Council  
Out-turn report 

Eric Seward  
Duncan Ellis 

To make any recommendations to Council Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Treasury Management Annual 
Report 

Eric Seward  
Duncan Ellis 

To make recommendations to Council Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Performance Management Q4 
Sarah Bütikofer 
Helen Thomas 

To monitor the Council’s performance and 
consider any recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny 
Market Towns Initiative Working 
Group Update 

Matt Stembrowicz 
To update the Committee on the progress of 
the Task and Finish group 

 

July     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 
Debt Management Annual Report 

Eric Seward 
Sean Knight 

To review the Report and make any necessary 
recommendations to Council 

Annual 

Scrutiny  
Council 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Annual Report 2018/19 

Matt Stembrowicz  
Committee to approve and recommend to 
Council 

Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Enforcement Board Update 
Nick Baker 
Nigel Lloyd 

To receive an update on the work of the 
Enforcement Board 

Six Monthly 

Scrutiny Work Programme Setting 
Matt Stembrowicz 
Nigel Dixon 

To agree non-statutory items on the 
Committee’s Work Programme 

Annual 

September     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P4 
Eric Seward 
Duncan Ellis 

To review the budget monitoring position  

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Pre-Scrutiny of the Corporate 
Plan’s Emerging Themes 

Sarah Bütikofer  
To review Cabinet’s Corporate plan and 
consider any recommendations 

Requested by 
Committee 

Scrutiny 
Cabinet 

O&S Scrutiny Guidance Report 
Matt Stembrowicz 
Nigel Dixon 

To consider the statutory scrutiny guidance 
from the Ministry of Housing & Local 
Government 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 85



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

Meeting Topic Lead Officer / Member Objectives & desired outcomes Time cycle 
October     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Council Tax Discount 
Determinations 

Lucy Hume/Eric Seward 
To determine the Council Tax discounts for 
2020/21 

Annual 

Scrutiny  
Cabinet 

Review of CP Framework: 
Recommendations 

Matt Stembrowicz/Nigel 
Dixon 

To agree recommendations from the O&S 
Review of the Draft Corporate Plan Framework 

Requested by 
the Committee 

Scrutiny Splash Project Update Rob Young/Virginia Gay 
To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

Scrutiny  
Cabinet  

Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2019 – 2024 

Lisa Grice/Andrew Brown 
To review the strategy and consider any 
response to the public consultation 

 

November     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P6 
Eric Seward 
Duncan Ellis 

To review the budget monitoring position Periodical  

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Joint Waste Contract 
Procurement Briefing  

Nigel Lloyd 
Steve Hems 

Pre-scrutiny of the terms & development of the 
new waste contract/consideration of costed 
options prior to approval 

Requested by 
the Committee 

Scrutiny 
Crime & Disorder Briefing – Rural 
Policing 

Nigel Dixon 
Matt Stembrowicz 

PCC and district Superintendent to provide a 
briefing on rural policing  

Annual 

Scrutiny Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

December     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Treasury Management Half-Yearly 
Report 

Eric Seward 
Duncan Ellis 

To consider the treasury management 
activities 

Six Monthly 

Scrutiny Beach Huts & Chalets Monitoring  
Maxine Collis 
Greg Hayman 

To monitor & review outcomes of O&S T&F 
Group recommendations  

Requested by 
the Committee 

Scrutiny Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Council 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Eric Seward 
Duncan Ellis 

To review the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Annual – 
before 2020/21 
Budget  

 
 

P
age 86



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

 

Meeting Topic Lead Officer / Member Objectives & Desired Outcomes Time cycle 
January 2020     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

2020/21 Base Budget and 
Projections for 2021/22 to 2022/23 

Eric Seward  
Duncan Ellis 

To review the proposed budget and projections Annual 

Scrutiny 
Cabinet? 

Itteringham House/Shop Review & 
Commercialisation Strategy 

Greg Hayman 
Duncan Ellis/Emma Duncan 

To review the Itteringham house/shop and feed 
findings into the Council’s commercialisation 
strategy  

Requested by 
the Committee 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Enforcement Board Update 
Nick Baker 
Nigel Lloyd 

To receive an update on the work of the 
Enforcement Board 

Six-monthly 

Scrutiny Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Performance Management Q2 
Sarah Bütikofer  
Helen Thomas 

To monitor performance of the Council & make 
any necessary recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

February     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 
Treasury Strategy 2019/20 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 

To review the treasury management activities 
and strategy for the investment of surplus 
funds 

Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 
Capital Strategy 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 

To review the deployment of capital resources 
to meet Council objectives & framework for 
management of the capital programme 

Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 
Investment Strategy 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 

To review the Council’s Investment Strategy 
for the year 2020-21 

Annual 

Scrutiny Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

March     

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Performance Management Q3 
Eric Seward 
Helen Thomas 

To monitor the performance of the Council and 
make any necessary recommendations to 
Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P10 
Eric Seward  
Duncan Ellis 

To review the budget monitoring position  

Scrutiny Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Chairman 

Scrutiny Rural Transport Briefing  
To identify service gaps and lack of access to 
services to identify potential recommendations 

Requested by 
the Committee 

P
age 87



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 

 

Meeting Topic Lead Officer / Member Objectives & Desired Outcomes Time cycle 

April     

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Council 
Annual Action Plan 

Sarah Bütikofer 
Helen Thomas 

 Annual 

Scrutiny 
Market Towns Initiative 
Monitoring/Process Review 

Matt Stembrowicz 
Richard Kershaw 

To monitor the implementation of successful 
MTI applicants and review the funding process 

Requested by 
the Committee 

Scrutiny 
 

Splash Project Update 
Virginia Gay 
Rob Young 

To provide an update on the progress of the 
Splash project 

Requested by 
the Committee 

 
 

    

Outstanding/
TBC 

    

Scrutiny Customer Service Briefing (TBC) 
David Williams 
Sarah Bütikofer  

To brief on the complaints procedure, no. of 
complaints resolved/outstanding  

Requested by 
the Committee 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Council 
Affordable Housing Strategy 

 
 

Pre-Scrutiny of the affordable housing strategy  

Scrutiny Declaration of Climate Emergency Nigel Lloyd 
To consider the action taken since the 
declaration of a climate emergency was made 

 

 
 

Economic Development Briefing Richard Kershaw 
To inform the Committee of alternatives to 
Tourism across the district 

 

Scrutiny 
Council  

Emergency Responders - 
Ambulance Response Times 

Emma Spagnola 
To Review the Ambulance response time 
across the District and work with EEAST to 
consider possible improvements 

Requested by 
Council 

 
 

P
age 88


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	10 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY – 2020/21 TO 2023/24
	(10) NNDC MTFS 2020-21 and beyond FULL COUNCIL VERSION_v2 with reserves

	11 Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 2019/20
	(8) Treasury Half Year Update CABINET

	12 Beach Huts & Chalets Monitoring Report
	13 SPLASH LEISURE CENTRE PROJECT UPDATE BRIEFING - DECEMBER 2019
	SLC Members Briefing 3 Appendix A Cost Summary

	14 The Cabinet Work Programme
	15 Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme and Update
	O&S Work Programme - Annual 2019-20 (Draft)


